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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 
 
 
United States of America, 
 
  Plaintiff,  
 vs.  
 
Yomtov Scott Menaged, 
 
  Defendant. 
 

 
CR-17-0680-PHX-GMS 

 
 

UNITED STATES’ RESPONSE TO 
DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR DE 
NOVO REVIEW OF DETENTION 

HEARING [DOC. 49] 
 

 Plaintiff United States of America, hereby files its Response to Defendant’s Motion 

for De Novo Review of Detention Hearing (Doc. 49). The United States’ motion is based 

on the attached memorandum of points and authorities, and the files and records in this 

case.  

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

Summary of Argument 

  Menaged’s motion for de novo review of the detention hearing is unavailing for 

several reasons. First, although this is a de novo review, Menaged has not provided the 

Court any additional evidence that was not presented at the detention hearing before the 
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Magistrate Judge. Second, and most important, the investigation of Menaged since his 

detention hearing demonstrates that he is engaging in additional fraud from his jail cell that 

involves using his 14-year-old son to make three-way phone calls, directing the movement 

of money, and the establishment of credit lines that could be used for flight. Third, 

Menaged’s assertion that he has been fully compliant with the dictates of the Bankruptcy 

Court is inaccurate. Indeed, as detailed below, Menaged has consistently misled the Federal 

Bankruptcy Court by concealing assets and money.  He, therefore, has a history of not 

complying with federal court orders.  Fourth, Menaged is exposed to a greater prison 

sentence since his detention hearing in May.  In sum, Menaged is more of a risk of flight 

and an economic danger since his previous detention hearing.  He should be detained 

pending trial. 

I. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

This Court=s review of the Magistrate Judge=s detention order is de novo.  United 

States v. Koenig, 912 F.2d 1190, 1192-93 (9th Cir. 1990).  The Court must Areview the 

evidence before the magistrate and make its own independent determination whether the 

magistrate=s findings are correct, with no deference.@ Id. at 1193.  If Anecessary or 

desirable,@ the Court may conduct additional evidentiary hearings in its discretion.  Id. 
 

B. Menaged has Committed Additional Crimes While in Custody 

Menaged should remain in custody because he continues to be an economic danger 

to the community. See United States v. Reynolds, 956 F.2d 192 (9th Cir. 1992) (Defendant 

convicted of mail fraud under 18 U.S.C. § 1341 posed an economic or pecuniary danger to 

the community); United States v. Zaragoza, 2008 WL 686825, at *3 (N.D.Cal. Mar. 11, 

2008) (Court notes that danger to community can include narcotics activity or even 

encompass pecuniary or economic harm. Id. (citing Reynolds, 956 F.2d at 192)). United 

States v. LeClercq, 2007 WL 4365601, at *4 (S.D.Fla. Dec. 13, 2007) ( “The reference to 

safety of the community in the Bail Reform Act of 1984 ‘refers to the danger that the 
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defendant might engage in criminal activity to the detriment of the community. The [Senate 

Judiciary] Committee intends that the concern about safety be given a broader construction 

than merely danger of harm involving physical violence.’ ”).  

First, a review of Menaged’s jail calls since his arrest demonstrates that he is 

engaging in a variety of frauds; some involve using his 14-year-old son. (See Exhibit A; 

Declaration of Agent Byron Anderton, ¶¶ 8-10.) Menaged is using his son to have 

three-way calls with bank representatives to circumvent the U.S. Marshal’s policy 

prohibiting three-way calls. (Id.)  Inmates are specifically advised that three way calls are 

prohibited and could result in disciplinary action.   

Second, during those calls he is requesting account information and attempting to 

determine the liquidation value of furniture. (Id. at ¶ 8.) Presumably, Menaged intends to 

obtain the proceeds from the liquidation and fail to disclose the proceeds to the Bankruptcy 

Court.  Alternatively, he would have the funds available for successful flight. 

Third, he is attempting to file an affidavit from a fictitious employee to facilitate 

loan fraud. As background, an employee at Menaged’s direction made a false police report 

that an “employee” of his furniture store had filed false credit applications with Wells 

Fargo Bank to finance furniture purchases. (Id. ¶ 11.) This was done in an effort to conceal 

Menaged’s rampant loan fraud. The loans totaled $600,000. It has been determined that the 

“employee” identified as committing fraud was fictitious. While in custody, Menaged is 

using his son to attempt to perpetuate this fraud. (Id. ¶ 10.) 

Fourth, Menaged is instructing his sister to withdraw money from credit lines that 

Menaged, unbeknownst to his sister, placed in her name. (Id. ¶ 12.) He further instructs her 

to obtain a cashier’s check and “hold onto the check and not deposit it.”  Menaged would 

have access to this money if released and could use it for flight. 

Fifth, there are a series of calls where Menaged discusses credit accounts established 

in the name of his estranged wife, Francine Menaged. (Id. ¶ 13.)  During the calls, his wife 

acknowledges that she never opened these accounts. (Id.) Again, these credit lines would 

be available to Menaged upon release.  
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Simply stated, if Menaged was allowed to reside at home instead of in a secure 

detention facility, he could not be adequately supervised (e.g., his calls would not be 

recorded, his computer and phone access could not be restricted, he would not be monitored 

24 hours a day, etc.) In sum, he is engaging in obstructive activity and committing further 

fraud. He, therefore, is a serious economic danger to his family and the community. He 

should remain detained. 

C. Menaged’s Family Members have Benefited from His Fraud. 

Menaged touts his strong ties to Phoenix as a basis for his release on conditions. 

First, he identifies his two children that reside in Phoenix as a reason that he would not 

flee. This argument is unavailing based on his use of his 14-year-old son, as noted above, 

to further his fraud from the detention facility.  Moreover, his 2-year-old son resides with 

his estranged wife who is separated from Menaged and is filing for divorce.   

In his motion he has attached letters from other family members attesting to his 

strong ties to Phoenix. However, in the case  of his sister Joy, Menaged has used her to 

establish fraudulent accounts. (See Exhibit A, ¶ 12.) In short, his family members do not 

establish ties to the community as they are being used by Menaged to facilitate a fraud or 

they have benefitted from his fraud. They cannot be entrusted to adequately supervise him.  

D. Menaged has Lied to the Bankruptcy Court    

Menaged has committed fraud in his bankruptcy proceeding and, therefore, cannot 

be trusted to comply with any court imposed terms of release. United States v. Hir, 517 

F.3d 1081, 1092 (for a release order to be effective, “they depend on [the defendant’s] good 

faith compliance.) (quoting United States v. Tortora, 922 F.2d 880, 886 (1st Cir. 1990) 

(concluding that a similarly extensive set of release conditions contained “an Achilles’ 

heel . . . virtually all of them hinge on the defendant’s good faith compliance” and “the 

conditions as a whole are flawed in that their success depends largely on the defendant’s 

good faith - or lack of it. They can be too easily circumvented or manipulated.”). Here, 

Menaged has proven that he is unwilling to comply with the orders of a Federal Court. 
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In his Motion, Menaged claims that his compliance with all Bankruptcy Court 

orders in connection with his pending Chapter 7 bankruptcy case indicates that he will 

comply with pre-trial release conditions.  Contrary to Menaged’s suggestion, however, 

Menaged has not provided full truthful disclosure to the Bankruptcy Court, which is the 

sine qua non of bankruptcy protection.  

 When Menaged initially filed his bankruptcy case in April 2016, he filed Schedules 

of Assets and Liabilities and a Statement of Financial Affairs (“SOFA”) under oath subject 

to penalty of perjury.  Despite that oath, Menaged failed to disclose that he owned 

substantial assets including real property in Phoenix, jewelry worth over $50,000, financial 

accounts, and several vehicles.  When the Chapter 7 trustee overseeing the case began 

investigating Menaged’s assets,  Menaged allowed his case to be dismissed based on his 

failure to file all forms that the Court directed him to file.  Ultimately, the Chapter 7 trustee 

discovered the missing assets and moved to reopen the case.  A copy of the Chapter 7 

trustee’s motion to reopen is attached as Exhibit B.  It wasn’t until more than four months 

after he filed the case and three months after the Chapter 7 trustee discovered the concealed 

assets that Menaged amended his Schedules and his SOFA to itemize the previously 

undisclosed assets. 

Menaged’s suggestion that he has complied with all of the Bankruptcy Court 

requirements is also belied by the fact that that the United States Trustee’s Office, which 

is the Department of Justice component that is responsible for ensuring the integrity of the 

bankruptcy system, filed a complaint against  Menaged, alleging inter alia that Menaged 

had fraudulently transferred and concealed assets with the intent to defraud creditors in the 

bankruptcy and that Menaged knowingly and fraudulently made numerous false statements 

under oath in the bankruptcy.  A copy of the United States Trustee’s complaint is attached 

as Exhibit C.  Similarly, one of Menaged’s creditors filed a complaint in the bankruptcy 

case against Menaged alleging inter alia that Menaged had made fraudulent 

misrepresentations to the creditor after the bankruptcy filing in order to induce the creditor 

to take no action against Menaged in the bankruptcy.  A copy of the creditor’s complaint 
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is attached as Exhibit D.     

Finally, Menaged has failed to cooperate with the Chapter 7 trustee overseeing his 

bankruptcy case.  As set forth in the Declaration of Jill Ford (attached as Exhibit E),  

Menaged requested that the Chapter 7 Trustee provide Menaged with an opportunity to 

“purchase back” the jewelry that he was required to turn over to the trustee as part of the 

bankruptcy case.  Ordinarily, the trustee would engage a professional auctioneer to sell 

such assets.  The trustee acquiesced in Menaged’s request, however, and conducted her 

own public auction with Menaged and his counsel in attendance.  At that auction, in early 

2017, Menaged became the winning bidder on several items of his own jewelry and thereby 

became obligated to pay the Chapter 7 trustee $7,500 for the jewelry.  Despite that 

obligation, Menaged reneged.  The Chapter 7 trustee contacted Menaged’s counsel by 

email and telephone on numerous occasions and was told that Menaged would pay.  

Eventually, however, Menaged’s counsel informed the Chapter 7 trustee that Menaged 

would not pay.   

 Menaged also failed to cooperate with the Chapter 7 trustee by failing to amend tax 

returns.  Since the inception of the case, Menaged has assured the Chapter 7 trustee that he 

would be amending his tax returns for 2014 and 2015.  The Chapter 7 trustee required 

accurate tax returns in order to have a clear-cut understanding of Menaged’s financial 

condition.  Despite numerous follow-up requests by the Chapter 7 trustee, Menaged has 

still failed, or refused, to amend his tax returns.    Lastly, Menaged hired contract employees 

to prepare false books and records to provide them to the Bankruptcy Court. (See Exhibit 

A, ¶ 24.) His conduct in the Bankruptcy proceeding demonstrates that he is incapable of 

complying with court orders. 

E.    Menaged’s Motive to Flee has Increased Since His Arrest.  

 Menaged is named in a multiple count indictment and the United States intends to 

supersede with additional counts. The Ninth Circuit permits the District Court to consider 

possible punishment as an incentive for a defendant to flee in assessing a defendant’s risk 

of flight.  United Sates v. Townsend, 897 F.2d 989, 995 (9th Cir. 1990) (“[T]he defendants 
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are charged with multiple counts, and it is reasonable, from their perspective, to look at the 

potential maximum sentences they face if they were found guilty on each count and 

sentenced consecutively on each count. . . Facing the much graver penalties possible under 

the present indictment, the defendants have an even greater incentive to consider flight.”) 

Here, the potential punishment creates a strong incentive to flee. A conservative 

estimate of the loss attributable to Menaged’s various frauds is $42 million. The guideline 

just for loss without considering any other applicable offense characteristics (e.g., 

leadership, sophisticated scheme, financial hardship to victims, etc.) would place him near 

a 10-year sentence. (See U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(b)(1)(L).) In short, Menaged has more of an 

incentive to flee since his previous detention hearing.  

F. The Evidence Is Stronger Against Menaged Since His Detention            
Hearing. 

 Of the four detention factors a district court must consider, the Ninth Circuit has 

Instructed that the weight of the evidence is the least important of the factors.  United States 

v. Honeyman, 470 F.2d 473, 474 (9th Cir.1972). Nevertheless, regarding all counts, the 

evidence of Menaged’s guilt is substantial, and in his motion he has failed to rebut or even 

address the evidence. The Indictment details evidence of Menaged’s leadership role in a 

complicated fraud scheme. As noted above, the United States intends to file a superseding 

indictment that involves a $42 million loss. Additionally, his jail calls using his minor son 

may also form the basis of additional counts.  The evidence against Menaged is 

overwhelming and considerable. The second § 3142(g) factor strongly favors detention 

because convictions are likely. Accordingly, no set of release conditions would reasonably 

assure Menaged’s appearance at trial or other court proceedings if he were released from 

custody.  

G. Electronic Monitoring is Untenable. 

Lastly, Menaged’s offer to be placed on electronic monitoring is unavailing. As 

argued above, he has no credible third party custodian to insure that he would comply with 

his release conditions and to supervise him 24 hours a day. Therefore, without a party 
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assuming responsibility for his appearance at further court proceedings, electronic 

monitoring is of little value.  Electronic monitoring cannot monitor a person’s movement 

twenty-four hours a day, and thus is not as effective around an international border, such 

as Mexico.  

II. CONCLUSION 

This is not a close case on detention. Menaged is continuing his  fraudulent activities 

while detained.  He has no employment in Arizona. He has no third-party custodian or 

assets to insure his appearance. He has engaged in recent international travel.  He is 

exposed to a lengthy prison sentence on charges for which the evidence of guilt is 

substantial. He, therefore, poses both a risk of flight and an economic danger to his family 

and the community. Menaged should be detained pending trial. 

Respectfully submitted this 30th day of June, 2017. 

 
 
ELIZABETH A. STRANGE 
Acting United States Attorney 
District of Arizona 
 
 
 s/ Kevin M. Rapp__________ 
KEVIN M. RAPP 
MONICA EDELSTEIN 
Assistant U.S. Attorneys 

                      JENNIFER A. GIAIMO 
Special Assistant U.S. Attorney 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on June 30, 2017, I electronically transmitted the attached 

document to the Clerk's Office using the CM/ECF System for filing a copy to the following 

CM/ECF registrants: Molly Brizgys, Esq. 
 
 
 
s/ Lauren M. Routen 
U.S. Attorney’s Office 
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DECLARATION OF SPECIAL AGENT BYRON ANDERTON 
 

I, Byron Anderton, declare: 

1. I am a Special Agent with the HSI. 

2. I currently serve in the Phoenix Field Office, Financial Crimes Unit.  Over the past 

eleven (11) years as a federal agent, I have conducted numerous criminal investigations 

involving violations of Immigration and Customs law. These violations have included 

financial crimes, weapons violations, narcotics violations, document and benefit fraud, 

and human smuggling. Also assigned to this investigation is a Special Agent with the 

United States Treasury Department, Internal Revenue Service (IRS) who specializes in 

tax law violations and other various financial investigations.   

3. This declaration is submitted in support of the government’s request for pretrial 

detention of Yomtov Scott Menaged (“Menaged”).  If called upon, I will competently 

testify to the matters set forth below:  

4. This declaration represents additional facts and finds that have been discovered since 

Menaged’s initial pretrial detention hearing. The following is information based on my 

personal observations, the observations of other federal and state law enforcement 

agents, a review of records and evidence during the course of the investigation and 

evidence obtained through search warrants and subpoenas.  

Background 

5. On approximately March 03, 2016, Wells Fargo Bank Fraud Investigators met with HSI 

SAC Phoenix Special Agent Byron Anderton and provided him with information 

regarding an individual identified as Yomtov Scott Menaged.  Menaged owns furniture 

stores operating under the names Furniture King, Furniture and Electronic King, 

Scott’s Fine Furniture, and American Furniture, all of which are located throughout 

the Phoenix metropolitan area.  Beginning in 2015, Menaged entered into agreements 

with Wells Fargo and Synchrony Financial to open merchant credit accounts at his 

stores. The agreements allowed Menaged to offer lines of credit to his customers for 
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the purpose of in-store for furniture purchases.  

6. In February of 2016, Wells Fargo was alerted to several unusual activities associated 

with the Furniture King merchant account.  Wells Fargo discovered that after a 

customer established their initial credit line (usually $3,000-5,000), the store made a 

subsequent request to raise the credit line to as high as $15,000 for the initial purchase.  

This is especially unusual at low priced furniture stores like Furniture King. Upon 

review, the so-called customers who signed up for credit lines were almost all recently 

deceased individuals. In most cases, the customer had passed away only a couple of 

days prior to the establishment of the credit line. A review on the credit applications 

showed similar handwriting on each of them, and the identification documents appeared 

to have been altered. The photos on several of the identification documents had been 

used multiple times on different credit applications. The total financial loss to Wells 

Fargo was approximately $1,199,900. 

7. In September 2016, Synchrony Financial experienced a strikingly similar fraud.  A 

complete review of the various furniture stores associated with Menaged revealed four 

Synchrony Financial merchant accounts used for fraudulent transactions. The total 

financial loss to Synchrony Financial was approximately $842,369.75. 

Review of Central Arizona Detention Center (CCA) Menaged Phone Calls 
from May 24, 2017-June 16, 2017 

8. During CCA calls, Menaged instructed his son Brandon (14 years old) to place repeated 

three-way calls to Menaged’s merchant bank representatives.  With this assistance from 

his son, Menaged has direct conversations with representatives from SNAP Finance in 

which he requests account information.  Additional calls between Brandon and 

Menaged reveal that Menaged is instructing his son to work with J&K to determine 

liquidation value for the furniture at his store.  At Menaged’s instruction, Brandon 

communicates directly with SNAP Finance and Progressive Financial and also places 

numerous of these three-way calls.  Brandon places additional three-way calls to the 

law offices handling Menaged’s affairs.  In these calls, Menaged requests affidavits to 
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be emailed to Brandon.  

9. In one particular call, Menaged had Brandon place a call to SNAP Finance.  He refers 

to Brandon as his “accountant” and requests that SNAP Finance sends financial records 

to Brandon at his email address, Brandon1234gt@icloud.com.   

10. During one conversation with Brandon, Menaged had his son read out-loud, a false 

police report or affidavit that involved a cover-up of fraud committed by a fictitious 

employee of Furniture King, believed to be Charles Begay.  It has been determined that 

Charles Begay is not an employee and never was an employee of Menaged. Menaged 

had instructed his employee’s to provide false statements to the Avondale Police 

Department as part of the fraud committed against Wells Fargo. 

False Avondale Police Report (Exhibit 1 and 2) 

11. A cooperating source divulged that Menaged instructed Furniture King employees to 

file a false report (Exhibit 1) with the Avondale Police Department when Wells Fargo 

was aggressively inquiring as to the details of the fraud committed against them.  

According to the Avondale Police report, a lone employee identified as Charles Begay 

established approximately 70 fraudulent credit accounts in the names of deceased 

customers and fraudulently purchased $600,000 of furniture.  The source and others 

have confirmed that Charles Begay was not an employee of Menaged or Menaged 

controlled entities and that Menaged had fabricated the story. Menaged went so far as 

to hire a private investigator at Premier Investigations to attempt to locate Begay.  

According to the source, Premier Investigations determined that Menaged had 

fabricated the story of Begay working for his store (Furniture King).  A false employee 

file and illegible driver’s license for Charles Begay was obtained (Exhibit 2).  The 

documents have a signature of a Charles Begay and are signed by Furniture King store 

representative (Operations Manager) Veronica Castro.  

12. During CCA calls, Menaged instructed his sister, Joy Menaged, to withdraw money 

from the American Furniture account that he (Menaged) put in her name.  Menaged 
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instructed his sister to have the bank issue a bank check with the withdrawn funds. He 

asked his sister only to hold onto the check, and not to deposit it.  Menaged stated that 

he had put American Furniture in Joy Menaged’s name several months ago when he 

was having problems with the bank and could not open a bank account.  Menaged 

instructed Joy Menaged to monitor the American Furniture account and told her that if 

the account went from a negative balance to a positive balance, she should transfer the 

money to her account. 

13. During a conversation with Kelly Griffin (owner of KEG Inspections), Griffin informed 

Menaged that she has the jewelry from American Furniture and is holding on to it.  This 

is further corroborated by a conversations on June 9, 2017 and June 19, 2017 between 

the government and Francine Menaged (Menaged’s wife), in which Francine informed 

the government that Griffin currently has her jewelry and that it is worth approximately 

$30,000.  She further stated that Menaged had been hiding the jewelry from her and 

would not return it. 

14. During a conversation with Kelly Griffin, Menaged instructed Kelly to contact J&K to 

provide an estimate for his furniture inventory at liquidation value.  Kelly agreed to 

contact the liquidation company.  

Synchrony Financial Accounts 

15. During a CCA call with Francine Menaged, she informed Menaged that she received a 

check from Synchrony Financial and does not know what it is for.  She further divulged 

that she never had an account with Synchrony Financial and believes that it is related 

to a fraudulent account that Menaged established in her name and his mother’s name 

(Michelle Menaged) without her knowledge. Synchrony Financial confirmed that a 

joint account (0247) was established in the names Francine Menaged and Michelle 

Menaged. The phone number associated with account (0247) is 480-261-7386. This 

phone number is Scott Menaged’s personal Verizon cell phone number.  The email 

address associated with the account is SMENA98754@aol.com.  The email address 

Case 2:17-cr-00680-GMS   Document 61-1   Filed 06/30/17   Page 5 of 37



[5] 

belongs to Scott Menaged and is the email identified as being used for Menaged’s real 

estate company, Arizona Home Foreclosures (AHF). It was also used in 

communications between Menaged and DENSCO.  A review of payment history made 

on account (0247) shows that multiple payments had been made from a business 

account for Scott’s Fine Furniture located at 13550 W. Van Buren St. Goodyear, AZ 

85386 (same address as that on the KEG Inspections fraudulent invoices referenced in 

paragraph 19) and the checks had been signed by Scott Menaged.  On June 20, 2017, 

the account was reported as fraudulent and the conversation was recorded by Synchrony 

Financial.  During a Synchrony Financial recorded call, Francine Menaged states that 

the account was opened fraudulently by her husband and that he had been arrested for 

the conduct.  A query by Synchrony Financial indicated that at least five (5) Synchrony 

Financial credit accounts (0247) (3661) (4912) (2590) (7932) had been established in 

the name Francine Menaged.  The remaining four (4) accounts show no activity and no 

balances, but have complete available credit. 

16. A further review of Synchrony Financial credit accounts found at least one additional 

account in the name of Jess Menaged account (3711).  Jess Menaged is the younger 

brother of Menaged and has been described by Menaged associates as “having 

challenges”.  Contact information for account (3711) lists Scott Menaged’s residence 

located at 10510 E. Sunnyside Dr. Scottsdale, AZ 85259.  The phone number associated 

with account (3711) is Scott Menaged’s Verizon cell phone number 480-261-7385.  The 

email associated with account (3711) is Scott Menaged’s email address 

SMENA98754@aol.com.  The account shows no activity and no balance, but has 

complete available credit at Menaged’s discretion if he were inclined to utilize it.  

17. Approximately five (5) Synchrony Financial credit accounts (5087) (2517) (3389) 

(0269) (4097), were discovered in the name Jeff Menaged.  Jeff Menaged is a name 

that was utilized by Scott Menaged to establish the Scott’s Fine Furniture merchant 

account with Synchrony Financial.  Contact information for the Jeff Menaged credit 

accounts lists Scott Menaged’s residence, located at 10510 E. Sunnyside Dr. Scottsdale, 
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AZ 85259.  The phone number associated with the accounts is Scott Menaged’s Verizon 

cell phone number 480-261-7385.  The email associated with the accounts is Scott 

Menaged’s email address SMENA98754@aol.com.  Several payments were made on 

account (0269) by Scott Menaged.  One payment was made on or about June 6, 2016 

for the amount of $400.  The payment was made from a Scott’s Fine Furniture account 

(check #1025) and was signed by Scott Menaged.  A second payment was made on or 

about September 28, 2016 for the amount of $200.  The payment was made from an 

American Furniture account (check #1125) and was signed by Scott Menaged.  

Additional payments were made in a similar manner.  The remaining four (4) accounts 

show no activity and no balances, but have complete available credit if Menaged was 

inclined to utilize it. 

18. Additional accounts continue to be discovered with variations of names, social security 

numbers, and dates of birth of Menaged associates.  Many of the discovered credit 

accounts were established in 2016, around the time of Denny Chittick’s (DENSCO 

owner) suicide and Menaged’s bankruptcy filing.  At least ten (10) of the accounts 

opened by Menaged in other individual’s names had no activity or charges, however, 

each of the accounts had complete unused available credit that could be utilized by 

Menaged. 

Counterfeit KEG Inspection Invoices 

19. On or about May 31, 2017, the government returned computer and financial records to 

Kelly and Richelle Griffin.  The computer and records were voluntarily provided to the 

government on May 24, 2017.  Upon the return of the records and computer, the 

Griffin’s provided four invoices that the Griffin’s stated where fraudulent.  Kelly and 

Richelle stated that Menaged asked them through their company (KEG Inspections) to 

generate false invoices that show inflated estimates for repairs to be performed at 

Furniture King/Electronic King LLC 13550 W. Van Buren St. Goodyear, AZ 85338.  

The work and repairs were never performed.  Menaged had requested the false invoices 

Case 2:17-cr-00680-GMS   Document 61-1   Filed 06/30/17   Page 7 of 37



[7] 

in order to negotiate a discounted lease agreement with the landlord.  The combine total 

for all four invoices was approximately $255,445.00.  The false invoices indicated that 

the total amount was paid in full. 

 Invoice:   4722 (February 22, 2016) 
Total:   $101,600.00 
Amount Paid:  $101,600.00 (Paid in Full) 

 Invoice:   4724 (February 22, 2016) 
Total:   $80,150.00 
Amount Paid:  $80,150.00 (Paid in Full) 

 Invoice:   4783 (March 29, 2016) 
Total:   $28,900.00 
Amount Paid:  $28,900.00 (Paid in Full) 

 Invoice:   4784 (April 4, 2016) 
Total:   $44,795.00 
Amount Paid:  $44,795.00 (Paid in Full) 

KEG Inspections Statements 

20. A review of KEG Inspections Bank of America account (3572) revealed that funds 

originating from Menaged and/or Menaged controlled entities were used for personal 

expenses.  As an example, the KEG Inspections account (3572) received approximately 

$122,251.02 in January 2015, and $128,518.90 from the Arizona Home Foreclosures 

Chase account, and approximately $27,505.60 in December 2015 and $18,896.05 in 

February 2016 from Furniture King and/or Furniture & Electronic King.  Withdrawals 

from account (3572) for these months included purchases from the following: 

 Restaurants including Outback, Zipps, Oreganos, Melting Pot, AH So Sushi and 
Steak, Texas Roadhouse, PF Changs;  

 Retail including Louis Vuitton, Kohl’s, Victoria’s Secret, Spencer’s Gifts, Petco, 
Fry’s Grocery, Safeway  

 Beauty and Health including Massage Envy, Orange Theory, Pro Nails and Spa by 
Tina, ASF Fitness, The Vitamin Shop 

 Entertainment including Netflix, Renaissance Festival, Dave & Busters, 
Brunswick Bowl, Top Golf, and movietickets.com 
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 Credit payments to TJX, Weisfield, and Nordstrom 

Gambling 

21. A review of casino records from Wild Horse Pass Casino indicated that Menaged and 

his wife Francine Menaged frequently gambled with Kelly and Richelle Griffin.  Below 

is a sample of local trips to Wild Horse Pass Casino in which the four gambled together: 

DATE SUBJECT NAME CASH IN CASH OUT 
07/26/2015 MENAGED/YOMTOV/S $57,500.00 $37,000.00 
08/02/2015 MENAGED/YOMTOV/S $24,800.00 $38,000.00 
08/16/2015 MENAGED/YOMTOV/S $22,600.00  
08/25/2015 MENAGED/YOMTOV/S $31,500.00 $20,000.00 
09/01/2015 MENAGED/YOMTOV/S $36,700.00 $20,000.00 
09/23/2015 MENAGED/YOMTOV/S $15,600.00 $20,000.00 
09/29/2015 MENAGED/YOMTOV/S $31,000.00 $20,000.00 
12/26/2015 MENAGED/YOMTOV/S $14,960.00 $20,000.00 
01/10/2016 MENAGED/YOMTOV/S $27,000.00 $20,000.00 
01/25/2016 MENAGED/YOMTOV/S $11,920.00 $20,000.00 
  $273,580.00 $215,000.00 
     

DATE SUBJECT NAME CASH IN CASH OUT 
07/26/2015 GRIFFIN/KELLY/E $28,700.00  
08/02/2015 GRIFFIN/KELLY/E $11,500.00  
08/16/2015 GRIFFIN/KELLY/E $14,501.00  
08/25/2015 GRIFFIN/KELLY/E $17,200.00  
09/01/2015 GRIFFIN/KELLY/E $12,900.00  
09/23/2015 GRIFFIN/KELLY/E $11,800.00  
09/29/2015 GRIFFIN/KELLY/E $23,020.00  
12/26/2015 GRIFFIN/KELLY/E $12,800.00  
01/10/2016 GRIFFIN/KELLY/E $11,600.00  
01/25/2016 GRIFFIN/KELLY/E $13,401.00  
   $157,422.00 $0.00 
     
DATE SUBJECT NAME CASH IN CASH OUT 
07/26/2015 GRIFFIN/RICHELLE $22,400.00  
08/02/2015 GRIFFIN/RICHELLE $13,100.00  
08/16/2015 GRIFFIN/RICHELLE $13,000.00  
08/25/2015 GRIFFIN/RICHELLE $12,000.00  
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01/10/2016 GRIFFIN/RICHELLE $10,100.00  
   $70,600.00 $0.00 
     
DATE SUBJECT NAME CASH IN CASH OUT 
07/26/2015 MENAGED/FRANCINE $27,780.00  
08/02/2015 MENAGED/FRANCINE $14,100.00  
08/16/2015 MENAGED/FRANCINE $22,860.00  
08/25/2015 MENAGED/FRANCINE $14,100.00  
   $78,840.00 $0.00 

Finances 

22. Menaged has signatory authority on at least 28 bank accounts at 5 financial institutions. 

He uses all of the accounts interchangeably, routinely transferring funds amongst the 

various bank accounts.  The accounts were also used to transfer funds to family and 

friends.   

23. Menaged has used at least two social security numbers to establish bank accounts.  The 

social security numbers used by Menaged are as follows: 

114-68-3032 does match Menaged. 

600-33-3332 does not match Menaged. 

Menaged boasted about having two social security numbers that he would use. A review 

of financial records associated with Menaged’s bank accounts supports the assertion 

that Menaged has utilized the above referenced social security numbers.  In several 

instances, Menaged utilized both social security numbers at the same financial 

institution. 

24. A cooperating source informed the government that upon filing for Chapter 7 

bankruptcy, Menaged requested assistance from his employee’s to aid him in 

generating inaccurate records. He used Quickbooks software and bank statements from 

his various businesses in order to provide the inaccurate documents to the bankruptcy 

court. Paperwork found at the American Furniture store subsequent to a federal search 

warrant indicated that the aforementioned employees were hired as subcontractors to 

sell furniture, when the actual purpose of their employment with the furniture store was 

Case 2:17-cr-00680-GMS   Document 61-1   Filed 06/30/17   Page 10 of 37



[10] 

to generate inaccurate financial records for Menaged’s bankruptcy.     

Joseph Menaged Interview 

25. On May 24, 2017, special agents with Homeland Security Investigations and Internal 

Revenue Service Criminal Investigations interviewed Joseph Menaged.  Joseph stated 

that he had a written agreement with Menaged in which Menaged would collect funds 

owed on financing deals involving real estate.  Upon the collection of the funds, 

Menaged would send a lump sum payment to Joseph each month.  The payments would 

fluctuate between, $51,000 to $57,000.  This agreement had been in place for the past 

3-4 years.  Menaged recently told Joseph that a business partner, Denny Chittick, hung 

himself and that his kids had found him.  Menaged divulged to Joseph that Chittick had 

accused Menaged of cheating him by lending him money and paying him back with his 

own money.  Joseph acknowledged that the activity that Menaged was describing was 

a Ponzi Scheme.  Joseph stated that he has not received funds from Menaged in 

approximately a year due to Menaged’s legal troubles.  Joseph stated that he sent 

Menaged $200,000 when his legal troubles began and that Joseph would often help out 

other members of the family with funds that originated with Menaged.  

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the forgoing is true and correct to the best of my 

knowledge and belief. Executed this 30th day of June, 2017 at Phoenix, Arizona. 

 
 s/ Byron Anderton___ 
BYRON ANDERTON 
Special Agent, HSI 
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 STEVE BROWN & ASSOCIATES, LLC 
 1414 EAST INDIAN SCHOOL ROAD, SUITE 200 
 PHOENIX, ARIZONA  85014 
 (602) 264-9224 
 

 

 
Steven J. Brown (#010792) sbrown@sjbrownlaw.com  
Steven D. Nemecek (#015219) snemecek@sjbrownlaw.com  
Attorneys for Trustee 
 
 IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
 
 FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 
 
 
In re:                   
 
YOMTOV SCOTT MENAGED, 
                                                                                                     
   Debtor.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In Proceedings Under Chapter 7 
 
Case No. 2:16-bk-04268-PS 
 
TRUSTEE'S MOTION FOR ORDER 
VACATING MAY 12, 2016 ORDER 
DISMISSING CASE AND 
REINSTATING CASE  
 

  

Pursuant to Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure 9023 and 9024 and Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure 59(e) and 60(b), Chapter 7 Trustee Jill Ford respectfully moves for an order 

vacating this Court's May 12, 2016 Order Dismissing Case (Dkt. #26) (the "Dismissal Order") 

and reinstating the case.  The Trustee believes that reinstatement is in the best interests of 

creditors because Debtor owns and/or has failed to disclose numerous, potentially valuable 

assets that could be liquidated and distributed to creditors.  This motion is timely as it is filed 

within 14 days of the Dismissal Order.  This Motion is supported by the following 

Memorandum of Points and Authorities. 

. . . 

. . . 

. . .  

. . . 

Case 2:16-bk-04268-PS    Doc 29    Filed 05/25/16    Entered 05/25/16 15:48:03    Desc
 Main Document      Page 1 of 8

Case 2:17-cr-00680-GMS   Document 61-2   Filed 06/30/17   Page 2 of 24

mailto:sbrown@sjbrownlaw.com�
mailto:snemecek@sjbrownlaw.com�


 1 

 2 

 3 

 4 

 5 

 6 

 7 

 8 

 9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

 13 

 14 

 15 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

 20 

 21 

 22 

 23 

 24 

 25 

 26 
 

2 
 

DATED this 25th day of May, 2016. 

      STEVE BROWN & ASSOCIATES, LLC 
 
      By
       Steven J. Brown 

   /s/   Steven D. Nemecek    

       Steven D. Nemecek 
       1414 East Indian School Road, Suite 200 
       Phoenix, Arizona  85014 
       Attorneys for Trustee 

I. 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

Debtor filed for Chapter 7 relief on April 20, 2016.  Trustee Jill Ford was appointed and 

retained undersigned counsel by order dated May 4, 2016.  The Trustee and her counsel 

immediately began investigating potential assets.  The Trustee also was contacted by two 

creditors who had been pursuing Debtor prior to the bankruptcy and had serious concerns that 

Debtor had not made full and accurate disclosures regarding his assets and income.  The 

Trustee's preliminary investigation reveals that Debtor appears to own several real and 

personal property interests that have not been accurately disclosed, or disclosed at all.      

BACKGROUND  

A. 

Debtor has appeared on the Discovery Channel TV show "Property Wars" as a house 

flipper.  The Trustee and her counsel began reviewing online records and consulting with real 

estate agent Beth Jo Zeitzer regarding real properties owned by Debtor.   

Real Properties 

Based on her preliminary investigation, the Trustee believes that Debtor has 

undervalued his Scottsdale property, failed to disclose an insider lien on his Peoria property, 

and failed to schedule yet another property in Phoenix.   Specifically:    

• 10510 East Sunnyside Drive in Scottsdale:  Debtor scheduled this property as 

his "house" and listed the value at $2.2 million and the secured debt owed to 

U.S. Bank at $1.998 million.  However, Ms. Zeitzer estimates the value to be 

higher, at between $2.4 and $2.5 million.  The Trustee has located in online 
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records potential liens and real property taxes in the face amount of about $2.1 

million.  Thus, this property may have significant equity, depending on the 

actual value and lien payoffs, and even if a homestead exemption is avaiable.      

• 9331 West Electra Lane, aka 23412 North 93rd Avenue, in Peoria:  Debtor 

scheduled this property as his "second home" and listed the value at $1.8 million 

with no secured debt.  Ms. Zeitzer believes the scheduled value is probably 

close to being accurate.  The Trustee has located in online records potential liens 

and real property taxes in the face amount of about $1.9 million.  However, one 

of the potential liens is a $500,000 deed of trust in favor of Joseph Menaged, 

recorded on September 11, 2015, at Maricopa County Recorder's Office 

Document No. 20150659121.  According to the deed of trust, Joseph Menaged's 

address is 10510 East Sunnyside Drive in Scottsdale, same as Debtor's address 

listed on the Voluntary Petition and Schedule A.  See

• 1605 West Winter Drive in Phoenix:  Debtor did not schedule this property.  

However, online records show the owner of the property as Yom Tov Scott 

Menaged.  Ms. Zeitzer believes the value is probably $380,000 to $390,000.  

The Trustee has located in online records potential liens and real property taxes 

in the face amount of about $911,000.  It would appear that the property does 

not have equity though further investigation would be necessary with respect to 

the potential liens and also any rental income being generated by the property.     

 Exhibit "A" attached 

hereto.  That deed of trust in particular requires further scrutiny in order to 

determine whether there might be equity in the property.   

B. 

Debtor scheduled no business entities in Schedule A and described himself as self-

employed by Furniture King for the last two years in Schedule I.  However, online records at 

the Arizona Corporation Commission state that Debtor is the manager or sole member of the 

Business Entities/Furniture Stores 
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following entities, all of which have not

• Arizona Home Foreclosures, LLC 

 been disclosed except for Furniture King: 

• Auto King, LLC 

• Beneficial Finance, LLC 

• Divine Design Home Interiors, LLC 

• Easy Investments, LLC 

• Furniture & Electronic King LLC 

• Furniture King LLC 

• Scott's Fine Furniture, LLC (Scott's Fine Furniture's website states that it has 

four stores:  5905 West Bell Road in Glendale, 4245 West Thomas Road in 

Phoenix, 1660 South Alma School Road in Mesa, and 13550 West Van Buren 

Street in Phoenix.  The Trustee's preliminary investigation reveals that all four 

locations are open and operating.)  

Debtor also is listed in Arizona Corporation Commission records as one of several 

members in an entity called Investors Title Holdings LLC. 

Also, one of the creditors provided to the Trustee information that Debtor caused a 

check to be paid from a bank account in the name of "Keg Inspections, Inc." in July 2015.  Yet 

according to Arizona Corporation Commission records, that entity was administratively 

dissolved almost six years earlier, on September 2, 2009, and Debtor had no ownership 

interest in the entity.   That bank account requires further investigation. 

C. 

Debtor listed in his schedules a leased 2013 BMW (Debtor did not list the model) and 

an underwater 2016 Ford Mustang.  However, one of the creditors shared with the Trustee 

Arizona Department of Motor Vehicles records dated April 14, 2016, indicating that Debtor 

also might own or lease at least four other vehicles: 

Vehicles 
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• 2013 BMW X5 (owned outright by Debtor and Keri Anne Frazier) 

• 2016 Mercedes CLS 63 (lease) 

• 2014 BMW X5 (lease) 

• 2016 Cadillac Escalade (owned subject to lien) 

See

While only the 2013 BMW X5 appears to be owned free and clear by Debtor and Ms. 

Frazier, the other vehicles are still worth noting because they are late model, higher-end 

vehicles and Debtor has to be making the lease or loan payments, which are not listed in his 

Schedule J expenses and would require more income than the $10,000 he lists in Schedule I, 

all of which and then some is chewed up in his Schedule J expenses.      

 Exhibit "B" attached hereto. 

D.  

On April 22, 2016, the Clerk issued a Notice of Deficient Filings (the "Notice"), stating 

that Debtor did not use the revised Official Forms that became mandatory effective 

The Notice Of Deficient Filings and Dismissal Order 

December 

1, 2015.  The Notice references Official Form 106C Schedule C:  Property You Claim as 

Exempt - Individual and Official Form 107 Your Statement of Financial Affairs - Individual.  

(Dkt. 11)1

However, Debtor in fact 

  

did use the Official Forms that became mandatory effective 

December 1, 2015

The Notice 

, for Official Form 106C Schedule C:  Property You Claim as Exempt - 

Individual and Official Form 107 Your Statement of Financial Affairs - Individual.  (Dkt. 10, 

page 14 and page 38)    

probably meant to say that Debtor did not use the revised Official Forms 

that became mandatory effective April 1, 2016

                         
1On April 20, 2016, the Clerk issued a different Notice of Deficient Filings stating that Debtor 
had not submitted a certificate of completion when he filed the Voluntary Petition. (Dkt. 5)  
On April 27, 2016 (Dkt. 19), and April 28, 2016 (Dkt. 20), Debtor filed his certificate.  The 
Dismissal Order does not pertain to those deficiencies.  

, as beginning that date, revised dollar amounts 
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in certain Official Forms took effect, including Schedule C (Official Form 106C) and the 

Statement of Financial Affairs (Official Form 107). 

Debtor apparently did not respond to the Notice.  The Court issued the Dismissal Order, 

referencing that Debtor "failed to timely file all required Official Forms as indicated by the 

court."  (Dkt. 26, related to Dkt. 11)  

II. REQUESTED RELIEF

The Bankruptcy Code does not contain a provision governing reinstatement of Title 11 

cases.  Courts treat motions to reinstate dismissed cases as a request to vacate the order of 

dismissal and governed by Rule 9023, which incorporates Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 59, 

or Rule 9024, which incorporates Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 60.  

  

E.g., In re Walker, 2010 

WL 2812570, *2-3 (Bankr. N.D. Ala. 2010) (considering motion to reinstate under Rule 

59(e)); In re Lampman

 Rule 59(e) allows a party to file a motion to alter or amend a judgment.  Courts will 

grant a Rule 59(e) motion where: (1) the court is presented with newly discovered evidence; 

(2) the court committed clear error or its initial decision was manifestly unjust; or (3) there is 

an intervening change in controlling law.  

, 494 B.R. 218 (Bankr. M.D. Pa. 2013) (considering motion to reinstate 

under Rule 60(b)). 

Circuit City Stores, Inc. v. Mantor

Rule 60(b) provides five specific grounds and one catch-all provision for relief from a 

"final judgment, order or proceeding": 

, 417 F.3d 1060, 

1064, n.1 (9th Cir. 2005).  

(1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; 

(2) newly discovered evidence that, with reasonable diligence, could not have been 

discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); 

(3) fraud (whether previously called intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation, or 

misconduct by an opposing party; 

(4) the judgment is void; 
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(5) the judgment has been satisfied, released or discharged; it is based on an earlier 

judgment that has been reversed or vacated; or applying it prospectively is no longer equitable; 

or 

(6) any other reason that justifies relief. 

Fed.R.Civ.P. 60(b)(1)-(6).  The specific grounds listed in sections (b)(1)-(5) are mutually 

exclusive from the broader, "any other reason" language of section (b)(6).  Pioneer Inv. Servs. 

Co. v. Brunswick Assocs. Ltd. P'ship

 Here, relief is appropriate under Rules 59(e) and 60(b)(1), (4) and (6).  The Notice 

leading to the Dismissal Order stated that Debtor did not use the revised Official Forms that 

became mandatory effective 

, 507 U.S. 380, 393 (1993). 

December 1, 2015

 The case also should be reinstated because Debtor has scheduled over $1.7 million in 

unsecured creditors and has omitted from his schedules assets that could be worth tens or even 

hundreds of thousands of dollars.  The Trustee already has been contacted by two creditors 

who believe that Debtor has not disclosed valuable assets and has asked the Trustee to 

investigate leads they were developing when Debtor filed bankruptcy.  The Trustee believes 

she has a duty to file this motion to protect the interests of unsecured creditors who could be 

paid from a liquidation of assets.

, when in fact Debtor used those forms.  The 

case should not have been dismissed given that Debtor used the forms that the Notice stated he 

should have used (even if they were the wrong forms).  The Notice contained a mistake that 

justifies vacating the Dismissal Order and reinstating the case.   

2

 

  It would be a manifest injustice to creditors if the case were 

to remain dismissed.    

                         
2 As the Estate's legal representative with the duty to liquidate assets and pay creditors, the 
Trustee is the proper party to file this motion.  See In the Matter of Casco Chemical Co., 355 
F.2d 646, 651 (5th Cir. 1964) (holding that bankruptcy trustee has standing to file a Rule 60(b) 
motion); see also In re Hall, 15 B.R. 913, 916-17 (9th Cir. BAP 1981) (holding that as 
representative of the bankruptcy estate with the duty to liquidate assets and pay creditors the 
trustee has standing to object to a debtor's motion to dismiss and that motion to dismiss should 
have been denied unless all creditors consented to dismissal).    
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III. CONCLUSION

 For the foregoing reasons, the Trustee respectfully requests that the Court vacate the 

Dismissal Order and reinstate the case.   

  

 DATED this 25th day of May, 2016. 

      STEVE BROWN & ASSOCIATES, LLC 
 
      By
       Steven J. Brown 

   /s/   Steven D. Nemecek    

       Steven D. Nemecek 
       1414 East Indian School Road, Suite 200 
       Phoenix, Arizona  85014 
       Attorneys for Trustee 
 
Copy of the foregoing served via ECF and 
emailed and/or mailed this 25th day of  
May, 2016, to: 
 
Yomtov Scott Menaged 
10510 East Sunnyside Drive 
Scottsdale, AZ  85259 
Debtor 
 
Larry Watson 
Office of the U.S. Trustee 
230 North First Avenue, Suite 204 
Phoenix, AZ  85003-1706 
larry.watson@usdoj.gov 
 
Timothy H. Barnes 
Timothy H. Barnes, P.C. 
428 East Thunderbird Road, #150 
Phoenix, Arizona 85022 
tim@thbpc.com  
Attorney for Redi Carpet, LLC 
 
 
By:   /s/ Karen Flaaen  
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ILENE J. LASHINSKY (AZ #3073) 
United States Trustee 
District of Arizona 
 
JENNIFER A. GIAIMO (NY #2520005) 
Trial Attorney 
230 North First Ave., Suite 204 
Phoenix, Arizona 85003-1706 
Telephone: (602) 682-2600 
Facsimile: (602) 514-7270 
Email: Jennifer.A.Giaimo@usdoj.gov  
 

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA 

 
In re: 
 
YOMTOV SCOTT MENAGED, 
 
  Debtor. 
_________________________________
ILENE J. LASHINSKY, UNITED 
STATES TRUSTEE, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
YOMTOV SCOTT MENAGED,  
 
  Defendant. 
 

)
)
)
) 
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

 

Chapter 7 
 
Case No. 2:16-bk-04268-PS 
 
Adversary Case No. 2-16-ap-00589-PS 
 
UNITED STATES TRUSTEE’S 
COMPLAINT TO DENY DISCHARGE 
UNDER 11 U.S.C. § 727 

Plaintiff, the United States Trustee (“UST” or “Plaintiff”), by and through the 

undersigned counsel, files this Complaint to Deny Discharge Under 11 U.S.C. § 727 

and alleges as follows:  

1. This is a complaint to deny the Debtor, Yomtov Scott Menaged 

(“Defendant”), a discharge in bankruptcy pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(2), (a)(3), 

and (a)(4).   
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. The Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 

151, 157, and 1334. 

3. This is a core proceeding under 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(J). 

4. Venue is proper in the District of Arizona under 28 U.S.C. § 1409. 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff, Ilene J. Lashinsky, is the United States Trustee for the 

District of Arizona. 

6. Plaintiff’s responsibilities include supervising the administration of 

cases under Chapter 7 of the United States Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C., (“the 

Code”).  Plaintiff has standing to pursue this adversary proceeding pursuant to 11 

U.S.C. § 307, which provides that the United States Trustee has standing to be 

heard on any issue in any case or proceeding under the Code. 

7. Defendant resides in Maricopa County, Arizona. 

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

8. Defendant filed his voluntary Chapter 7 bankruptcy petition in this 

case on April 20, 2016 (the “Petition Date”).   

9. The case was dismissed and then reinstated by order dated June 2, 

2016.  See Administrative Docket #37.   

10. The first date set for the meeting of creditors after reinstatement of the 

case was August 1, 2016.  See Administrative Docket #38.   
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11. By orders dated September 21, 2016 and November 14, 2016, the Court 

extended the deadline for the UST to file a complaint objecting to the Debtor’s 

discharge pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 727 until December 15, 2016.  See Administrative 

Docket #138 and #203. 

12. This complaint is being timely filed before the expiration of the Court-

ordered deadline for the UST to file a complaint under 11 U.S.C. § 727.   

13. Defendant filed his original Petition, Schedules, Statement of 

Financial Affairs (hereinafter “SOFA”), and Statement of Current Monthly Income 

(hereinafter “CMI”) on April 20, 2016.  See Administrative Docket #1, #9 and #10.  

Defendant signed the original Petition, Schedules, SOFA, and CMI under oath and 

subject to penalty of perjury. 

14. After the case was reinstated, Defendant filed amended pleadings in 

the administrative case as follows:  

a. Amended Petition filed at Administrative Docket #88 on August 25, 

2016; 

b. Amended Schedules filed at Administrative Docket #89 on August 25, 

2016; 

c. Amended SOFA filed at Administrative Docket #90 on August 25, 

2016; 

d. Amended CMI filed at Administrative Docket #92 on August 25, 2016; 

e. Amended Schedules filed at Administrative Docket #94 on August 25, 

2016; 
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f. Amended Schedules filed at Administrative Docket #98 on August 26, 

2016; 

g. Amended Schedules filed at Administrative Docket #102 on August 29, 

2016; and 

h. Amended Schedules filed at Docket #135 on September 20, 2016. 

All of the foregoing pleadings, identified in subparagraphs (a) through (h) 

were filed under oath and subject to penalty of perjury. 

15. Defendant appeared and testified under oath at a meeting of creditors 

held pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 341 on August 26, 2016 (hereinafter the “341 

Meeting”).     

16. Defendant appeared and testified under oath at a deposition conducted 

by counsel for the Receiver of Densco Investment Corporation in this case on 

October 20, 2016 (hereinafter the “October 2016 Deposition”) 

17. Defendant appeared and testified under oath at a deposition conducted 

by counsel for the UST in this case on November 3, 2016 (hereinafter the 

“November 2016 Deposition”).   

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

18. From at least 2008 through the Petition Date, the Defendant has 

earned his income through a number of solely-owned companies that he created and 

managed to engage in a variety of business ventures.   
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19. Among the businesses created and managed by the Defendant before 

the Petition Date were Easy Investments, LLC (hereinafter “Easy Investments”) 

and Arizona Home Foreclosures, LLC (hereinafter “AHF”). 

20. Easy Investments was formed by the Defendant in Arizona in 

September 2007.  Defendant became the sole member of Easy Investments in 

February 2008 and remained the sole owner of that entity from February 2008 

through the Petition Date.   

21. AHF was formed by the Defendant in December 2007.  Defendant was 

and remained the sole owner of AHF from its inception through the Petition Date. 

22. Both Easy Investments and AHF were created to purchase foreclosed 

properties for resale.  On occasion, both Easy Investments and AHF would also 

collect rental income from properties that had been temporarily rented out to 

tenants instead of being resold. 

23. Other entities under the exclusive ownership and control of Defendant 

within the one year period before the Petition Date were Furniture King, LLC, 

Furniture & Electronic King, LLC, and Scott’s Fine Furniture, LLC (hereinafter 

“the Furniture Entities”), and Auto King, LLC (“AK).  
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USE OF CORPORATE ENTITIES AS ALTER EGOS/NOMINEES 

24. During the two-year period preceding the Petition Date, Defendant 

was the sole and exclusive decision maker with respect to the financial management 

of Easy Investments, AHF, the Furniture Entities, and AK (collectively “the 

Entities”).   

25.   During the two-year period preceding the Petition Date, Defendant 

was the person solely responsible for authorizing the payment of bills and allocation 

of funds on behalf of the Entities.     

26. During the two-year period preceding the Petition Date, Defendant 

had complete and unfettered access to and signatory authority over bank accounts 

held in the name of the Entities.   

27. During the two-year period preceding the Petition Date, Defendant 

was the beneficial owner and equitable owner of numerous bank accounts held in 

the name of the Entities (hereinafter “Corporate Bank Accounts”). 

28. During the two year period preceding the Petition Date, the Defendant 

disregarded corporate formalities in handling the Entities’ financial affairs and in 

separating his personal finances from his corporate Entities’ finances.  During that 

time, the Defendant commingled funds between himself and his Entities and freely 

transferred money between the various Entities and himself without regard to 

corporate formalities.   

29. During the two-year period preceding the Petition Date, the Defendant 

failed to maintain regular corporate books and records on behalf of the Entities, 
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including financial statements such as balance sheets, income statements or profit 

and loss statements, and equity statements. 

30. During at least the one-year period preceding the Petition Date, Easy 

Investments and AHF were grossly undercapitalized.  The Defendant was aware of 

such undercapitalization but continued to commingle funds between himself and 

the Entities and to disregard corporate formalities.   

31. Based on Defendant’s conduct, the Entities were and are Defendant’s 

alter egos.     

32. Based on Defendant’s conduct, the Corporate Bank Accounts were held 

in the name of the Entities as mere nominees for the Defendant and constituted 

property of the Defendant before the Petition Date and property of the Defendant’s 

estate after the Petition Date. 

33. Within one year before the Petition Date, the Defendant, acting with 

intent to hinder, delay, and defraud his creditors, made fraudulent transfers of over 

a million dollars from the Corporate Bank Accounts and intentionally depleted his 

personal account and the Corporate Bank Accounts of funds by, among other things, 

transferring large sums of money to family members and by using large sums of 

money for lavish personal expenditures for, among things, gambling, luxury 

vehicles, payment of private school expenses that included catered lunches for his 

thirteen-year old son, and the purchase of a 5,700 square foot residence with its own 

lazy river. 
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THE DENSCO FRAUD 

34. In about 2003, the Defendant began engaging in the real estate 

investment business by seeking to purchase distressed residential real properties 

that were being auctioned for sale pursuant to notices of trustee sales filed with the 

Maricopa County, Arizona Recorder’s Office by foreclosure trustees.  Typically, 

Defendant would locate properties that were being noticed for trustee sale, bid on 

the properties at the trustee’s auction, and, if he succeeded in becoming the winning 

bidder, obtain hard money loans to purchase the property.  

35. A hard money loan is a type of asset-based loan financing through 

which a borrower receives funds secured by real property.  Hard money loans are 

typically issued by private investors or companies on a short-term basis at interest 

rates higher than the prevailing interest rates on ordinary mortgages. 

36. Upon obtaining the hard money loan, the Defendant would purchase 

the distressed property and then either immediately resell it at a profit or 

rehabilitate the property for resale.  On some occasions, if the property was not 

resold, the Defendant would rent the property out and collect rental income until 

such time as he decided to resell the property at a profit.   

37. Defendant’s experience in bidding on foreclosed properties led to the 

Defendant becoming a cast member on a reality television program called “Property 

Wars” in about 2011 or 2012. 

38. From about 2007 or 2008, Defendant engaged in the business of 

purchasing distressed properties through his alter ego entities Easy Investments 
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and AHF ( (hereinafter jointly the “Alter Ego Real Estate Entities”).  Easy 

Investments and AHF were treated by the Defendant as being one in the same 

entity and funds were freely transferred between accounts held in the names of 

each of those entities.   

39.   In about 2007 or 2008, Defendant began conducting business with a 

company called Densco Investment Corporation (“Densco”) of which the owner and 

President was Denny J. Chittick (“DJC”).  Densco was a hard money lender from 

whom Defendant sought hard money loans to purchase distressed properties in the 

name of his Alter Ego Real Estate Entities.   

40. In about 2014, Defendant and his Alter Ego Real Estate Entities had 

defaulted on the repayment of over $35 million of hard money loans from Densco.  

The Defendant was personally liable on those loans by virtue of a guaranty he 

provided Densco on behalf of the Alter Ego Real Estate Entities.   

41. In an effort to prevent Densco from pursuing its legal remedies for the 

default, Defendant requested that Densco execute a forbearance agreement.  As a 

result, in April 2014, Defendant on behalf of himself and his Alter Ego Real Estate 

Entities entered into an agreement titled “Forbearance Agreement.”  Through that 

agreement, Defendant acknowledged that the outstanding balance of loans payable 

by Defendant and his Alter Ego Real Estate Entities to Densco was over $35 

million. 

42. After the execution of the Forbearance Agreement, the Defendant 

continued to receive hard money loans from Densco for the purchase of distressed 
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properties in the name of his Alter Ego Real Estate Entities.  Pursuant to the 

business arrangement between Defendant and Densco after execution of the 

Forbearance Agreement, Defendant would obtain hard money loans for purchasing 

distressed properties at trustee sales by using the following protocol: 

a. Defendant would bid on a property at foreclosure auction; 

b. Upon becoming the successful bidder, Defendant would notify DJC of 

the purchase price and the necessary hard money loan amount for 

completing the purchase;  

c. DJC would then wire funds from Densco to an account held in the 

name of one of Defendant’s Alter Ego Real Estate Entities; and 

d. Defendant would utilize the hard money loan funds received from 

Densco to obtain a cashier’s check payable to the trustee noticing the 

sale and then purchase the property. 

43. On various occasions, Defendant would take photographs of the 

cashier’s checks payable to trustees from whom the Defendant was purchasing 

distressed properties pursuant to hard money loans received from Densco.  The 

Defendant sent photographs of such cashier’s checks to DJC by email in order to 

show DJC that the hard money loan funds were in fact used to purchase the 

distressed properties identified in the corresponding hard money loan request sent 

by Defendant to DJC. 

44. On various occasions, the Defendant also transmitted to DJC 

photographed copies of receipts purportedly evidencing the trustee’s actual receipt 
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of the funds to purchase the property identified in the corresponding hard money 

loan request sent by Defendant to DJC (hereinafter referred to as “the Trustee 

Receipts”). 

45. During the one year period before the Petition Date, the Defendant, 

with intent to hinder, delay, and defraud his creditors, including specifically 

Densco, falsely represented to DJC that the Defendant had completed purchases of 

specific distressed properties using hard money loans received from Densco for the 

purchase of such specific properties.  During that same period, Defendant 

misrepresented to DJC that certain funds were used to purchase distressed 

properties, when such funds had not in fact been used for that purpose, by 

photographing and sending, via email or other electronic transmission, copies of 

cashier’s checks and forged Trustee Receipts indicating that the funds had been 

paid to the foreclosure trustee.   

46. During the one year period before the Petition Date, on numerous 

occasions, the Defendant obtained cashier’s checks payable to the specific trustee 

from whom specific property was to be purchased, photographed that cashier’s 

check and sent it to DJC to evidence that Defendant had actually completed the 

purchase of the distressed property as represented in the request for the hard 

money loans.  Upon information and belief, after sending the photograph of the 

cashier’s checks to DJC, on occasion, the Defendant would cancel the cashier’s check 

and redeposit the funds into an account over which Defendant maintained exclusive 

control.  In this manner, the Defendant had, within the one year period before the 
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Petition Date, fraudulently misrepresented to DJC and Densco that hard money 

loans were being used to purchase distressed properties when, in fact, they had not 

been so used.   

47. Upon information and belief, on numerous occasions during the one 

year period before the Petition Date, the Defendant misrepresented that he had 

used Densco’s hard money loan funds for their intended purpose by sending DJC 

copies of fraudulent, forged Trustee Receipts that had not in fact been received from 

trustees for the purchase of distressed properties identified in Defendant’s hard 

money loan requests.   

48. During the one year period before the Petition Date, on numerous 

occasions, Defendant obtained hard money loans from Densco by misrepresenting to 

DJC that certain properties were being auctioned for sale by a foreclosure trustee 

when trustee sales on such properties had in fact been cancelled before Defendant 

requested such funds from Densco.   

49. During the one year period before the Petition Date, the Defendant 

misappropriated hard money loan funds received from Densco by using such funds 

for his own personal use.  Such funds were used for, among other things, the 

repayment of purported loans from family members, the payment of certain family 

members’ living expenses, and the payment of personal expenditures including 

large sums spent gambling.  Some of the hard money loan funds received by 

Defendant from Densco were also used to repay Densco interest payments that were 

due with respect to prior hard money loans from Densco.   
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50. The hard money loan funds received from Densco were commingled 

with funds from Defendant’s personal accounts and various Entities’ accounts.  

Within the year before the Petition Date, the Defendant misappropriated funds that 

he received on behalf of the Alter Ego Real Estate Entities from Densco by using 

such funds to repay family loans, transferring funds to Defendants’ family members 

and other entities including the Furniture Entities, and using such funds for 

personal expenditures including gambling in Las Vegas.  The hard money loan 

funds that Defendant received in the name of the Alter Ego Real Estate Entities 

constituted property of the Defendant upon their receipt.   

51. Within the one year period before the Petition Date, the Defendant 

transferred and concealed Defendant’s funds and property with intent to hinder, 

delay, and defraud creditors, including specifically Densco. 

52. Defendant was aware from at least April 2014 when the Forbearance 

Agreement was executed through the Petition Date that Densco hard money loans 

were funded at least in part by money Densco received from individual investors.   

53. Defendant was aware from at least February 2015 that DJC was 

having a hard time paying the Densco investors.   

54. Defendant failed to maintain appropriate documentation from which to 

determine the outstanding balance of loans that he and his Alter Ego Real Estate 

Entities received from Densco at any given point in time.  At his November 2016 

Deposition, Defendant claimed to have no idea of the outstanding amount of the 

loans due to Densco at the time of the Petition Date and was unable to answer 
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whether he served as a personal guarantor of the Densco loans to AHF.  Defendant 

has listed Densco as a personal creditor in these bankruptcy proceedings. 

55. During the one year period before the Petition Date, when the 

Defendant knew that he owed millions of dollars to Densco and to other creditors, 

the Defendant transferred at least $747,000 of funds from AHF’s accounts, into 

which Densco hard money loans had been deposited, to Defendant’s father in 

repayment of alleged loans by Defendant’s father to AHF.   

56. In September 2015, when the Defendant knew that he owed millions of 

dollars to Densco and to other creditors, Defendant purchased real property at 

Electra Lane in Peoria, Arizona for approximately $1.9 million.   

57. After the Petition Date, the Defendant spoke to DJC about the 

repayment of the Densco hard money loans.  During a conversation between 

Defendant and DJC in July 2016, Defendant made false statements to DJC in an 

effort to hinder, delay, and defraud Densco.  During that conversation, Defendant 

intentionally misrepresented to DJC that Defendant had numerous valuable assets 

from which Defendant would be able to repay the Defendant’s and Entities’ debt to 

Densco after the conclusion of Defendant’s personal bankruptcy case.   

58. Defendant intentionally misrepresented to DJC that he had access to 

real properties in New York and over $30 million of funds that were being held in 

an account or in trust with the company Auction.com.   
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59. Defendant intentionally made false statements to DJC to falsely 

convince DJC that the outstanding loan from Densco to Defendant and his Entities 

would be repaid.   

60. Defendant told DJC that if DJC waited until Defendant’s personal 

bankruptcy proceedings were completed, then Densco would be repaid in full.  At 

the time that Defendant made these false statements to DJC, the Defendant was 

fully aware that if he was able to obtain a discharge of his debts in this bankruptcy, 

then he would have no legal obligation to repay Densco after the bankruptcy was 

concluded.       

61. Within the one year period before the Petition Date, the Defendant 

falsely claimed to DJC that the reason that he and his Entities had been unable to 

repay the loans from Densco was because Defendant had a cousin who embezzled 

millions of dollars from Defendant’s Entities.   

TRANSFER OF BENTLEY AND MUSTANG 

62. In May 2013, the Defendant executed a motor vehicle lease as lessee of 

a 2013 Bentley Continental GT Coupe from the company Putnam Leasing Co. I LLC 

(“Putnam”).  The lease obligated the Defendant to make 58 payments of $2,959.63 

per month.  The lease term was due to expire in about March 2018.  The lease 

provided the Defendant with the option to purchase the Bentley at the end of the 

lease term through the payment of $85,000. 

63. In July 2016, the total payoff due on the Bentley lease was 

approximately $144,000 which included the $85,000 option to purchase amount. 
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64. Less than six months before the Petition Date, in November 2015, the 

Defendant transferred the Bentley to his father Joseph Menaged in exchange for a 

purported $150,000 credit on the outstanding balance of a $5.5 million loan 

allegedly owed by Defendant’s entity AHF to Defendant’s father pursuant to a 

promissory note dated December 1, 2011.   

65. In exchange for receiving a purported $150,000 credit on the alleged 

loan outstanding between AHF and Defendant’s father, the Defendant transferred 

possession and use of the Bentley to his father.  In the meantime, the Defendant 

continued to pay the monthly lease payments and obligated himself to continue 

paying the lease payments and the $85,000 balloon payment at the end of the lease.   

66. The Defendant’s transfer of the Bentley to his father occurred less than 

six months before the Petition Date at a time when the Defendant was not able to 

pay all of his debts as they became due and at a time when the Defendant was being 

pursued by creditors.   

67. After the Petition Date, the Defendant continued making payments on 

the Bentley lease and was continuing to make such payments at the time of his 

November 2016 Deposition.  The Defendant made a knowing and intentional false 

oath on his Schedule J in this case by failing to disclose the monthly lease payments 

being paid for the Bentley on his father’s behalf at the time of the Petition Date. 

68. The Defendant, with intent to hinder, delay, or defraud creditors, 

fraudulently transferred his interest in the Bentley lease to his father within one 

year before the Petition Date. 
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69. Two months before the Petition Date, in about February 2016, the 

Defendant sold a 1965 Ford Mustang that was titled in the Defendant’s personal 

name.  That sale generated net proceeds of about $35,000. 

70. The Defendant, with intent to hinder, delay, or defraud creditors, 

deposited the net sale proceeds into a corporate account held in the name of one of 

the Furniture Entities rather than making those cash funds available to personal 

creditors through the bankruptcy. 

71. Despite having received over $35,000 of net proceeds from the sale of 

the 1965 Mustang, the Defendant claimed to have just $1,340 in cash on hand and 

just about $700 of funds in bank accounts as of the Petition Date.   

72. The Defendant, with intent to hinder, delay, or defraud creditors, 

fraudulently concealed the proceeds received from the sale of the 1965 Mustang and 

fraudulently transferred those proceeds to a corporate entity account within one 

year before the Petition Date. 

FALSE OATHS AND RECKLESS DISREGARD IN BANKRUPTCY 

73. In his November 2016 Deposition, the Defendant testified that before 

filling out the information in his bankruptcy Schedules and SOFA, he did not 

carefully review his records to ensure that he properly listed all of the debts that he 

owed to creditors as of the Petition Date.  During that deposition, the Defendant 

also testified that he was not sure if certain items on his amended bankruptcy 

pleadings were correct. 
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74. Defendant acted knowingly and fraudulently and with reckless 

indifference to the accuracy of his Schedules, SOFA, and other bankruptcy 

pleadings and of testimony provided in this case by making material false 

statements including the following: 

a. Schedule A/B: failing to disclose his equitable interest in and 

ownership of all of the Corporate Bank Accounts; 

b. Schedule A/B: disclosing unknown values for all of the entities 

identified in Item No. 19;  

c. Schedule F:  failing to disclose his father as an unsecured creditor with 

respect to an alleged outstanding debt to his father in the amount of 

about $2.6 million; 

d. Schedule F: disclosing an unknown amount of the outstanding balance 

of unsecured debt owed to Densco; 

e. Schedule G:  failing to disclose a purported verbal agreement with a 

“friend” to assume payments on the 2016 Ford Mustang listed in 

Defendant’s Schedule A/B in exchange for Defendant’s agreement to 

transfer title to this friend upon payment of the car loan in full; 

f. Schedule I: failing to disclose the calculation of net income listed on 

Item #8a;  

g. Schedule J:  failing to disclose expenses being paid by Defendant under 

the Bentley lease that was transferred to his father; 
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h. SOFA #4:  failing to disclose the true amount of income Defendant 

received by virtue of draws or distributions from and payment of 

personal expenditures by Defendant’s various Entities; 

i. SOFA #4: disclosing only unknown amounts for income from 

employment or operating a business during 2014 and 2015;  

j. SOFA #6: failing to disclose payments made with respect to the 

Bentley Lease during the 90 days before the Petition Date; 

k. SOFA #7, #8, #18: failing to disclose the transfer of net proceeds 

received from sale of 1965 Ford Mustang to AHF months before the 

Petition Date; 

l. SOFA #18: failing to disclose the purported agreement to transfer title 

to the 2016 Ford Mustang listed on Schedule A/B. 

75. Defendant’s misrepresentations and omissions as listed above were 

made under oath, knowingly and intentionally, and with respect to material 

information.   

76. The Defendant acted with reckless disregard for the truth of his 

disclosures, the Schedules, SOFA, and testimony in this case.   

LACK OF DOCUMENTATION 

77. Defendant failed to maintain corporate books and records or any 

corporate financial statements, other than bank statements, from which the 

Defendant’s financial condition or business transactions might be ascertained.   
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78. Defendant either failed to maintain or failed to produce, in response to 

the UST’s document request, documents from which the repayment of alleged loans 

between the Defendant and/or AHF and Defendant’s father could be ascertained.  

Defendant testified that numerous payments “in benefit of the loans from his 

father” were made to family members, but failed to maintain, or failed to produce, 

documentation pursuant to which such repayments were recorded or otherwise 

documented. 

79. Defendant either failed to maintain or failed to produce, in response to 

the UST’s document request, sufficient documentation from which the amount of 

Defendant’s draws or distributions from his corporate Entities could be ascertained.   

80. Defendant either failed to maintain or failed to produce, in response to 

the UST’s document request, sufficient documentation from which the amount and 

frequency of payments of personal bills through the use of funds directly from 

Corporate Bank Accounts could be ascertained.   

81. Defendant either failed to maintain or failed to produce, in response to 

the UST’s document request, sufficient documentation from which to ascertain the 

nature and purpose of transfers between Defendant’s personal and corporate bank 

accounts. 

82. Defendant testified at his November 2016 Deposition that certain 

transfers from corporate accounts to his personal account may have been loans that 

were immediately repaid, but the Defendant either failed to maintain or failed to 

produce, in response to the UST’s document request, sufficient documentation to 
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ascertain when and in what amount such short-term loans were being made and 

repaid. 

83. Defendant either failed to maintain or failed to produce, in response to 

the UST’s document request, any general ledgers, check registers, Quickbooks, or 

other accounting/bookkeeping documents from which to ascertain the Defendant’s 

financial condition and business transactions. 

ADVERSE INFERENCE FROM INVOCATION  
OF FIFTH AMENDMENT PRIVILEGE 

 
84. At his November 2016 Deposition, the Defendant invoked his privilege 

not to incriminate himself pursuant to the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. 

Constitution when asked numerous questions pertaining to his financial condition 

and business transactions.   

85. For example, the Defendant invoked his Fifth Amendment privilege 

when asked about false receipts that were given to DJC to show that Densco’s funds 

were used to purchase certain properties from a foreclosure trustee.   

86. Likewise, Defendant refused on the basis of the Fifth Amendment 

privilege to answer numerous questions regarding emails from Defendant and his 

associates to DJC regarding the purchasing of distressed properties, obtaining hard 

money loans from Densco, providing documentation to DJC regarding the properties 

to be purchased by hard money loans from Densco, the pricing of such properties, 

the payoff amounts listed in such emails, and the amount of funds that were wired 

from Densco for such purchases. 
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87. At his November 2016 Deposition, Defendant also invoked the Fifth 

Amendment privilege when he was asked when and why he ceased seeking hard 

money loans from Densco before filing for bankruptcy, whether he knew he was 

unable to pay the Densco loan balances in full at the time he filed bankruptcy, and 

whether and when he stopped making payments to Densco in repayment of hard 

money loans.   

88. At his November 2016 Deposition, Defendant invoked the Fifth 

Amendment privilege and refused to answer numerous other questions that pertain 

directly to Defendant’s financial condition, business transactions, knowledge, and 

intent. 

89. In light of the Defendant’s invocation of the Fifth Amendment privilege 

and refusal to testify regarding certain matters at his November 2016 Deposition, 

the Court may draw a negative or adverse inference from the Defendant’s refusal to 

answer. 

COUNT ONE 

TRANSFER AND CONCEALMENT WITH INTENT TO DEFRAUD 
11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(2) 

 
90. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 89 herein.   

91. Within one year before the Petition Date herein, Defendant 

transferred, removed and concealed Defendant’s funds and property, including 

funds and property held in the name of alter ego Entities, with the intent to hinder, 

delay, or defraud Defendant’s creditors.     
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92. Defendant’s transfers and concealments have delayed and hindered 

the ability of Defendant’s creditors to recover the debts that are due and owing by 

Defendant. 

93. As a result of the conduct alleged herein, Defendant is not entitled to a 

discharge in bankruptcy under 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(2). 

COUNT TWO 

CONCEALING OR FAILING TO KEEP RECORDS 
11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(3) 

 
94. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 93 herein.   

95. Defendant has failed to keep or preserve documents from which the 

Defendant’s financial condition and business transactions might be ascertained. 

96. As a result of Defendant’s conduct as alleged herein, Defendant is not 

entitled to a discharge in bankruptcy under 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(3). 

COUNT THREE 

FALSE OATH - 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(4) 

97. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1 through 96 herein.   

98. Defendant knowingly and intentionally made false statements 

concerning material information under oath in this case.   

99. Defendant acted with reckless disregard for the truth of his 

disclosures, pleadings, and testimony in this case.   

100. Defendant’s false oath statements and omissions include, but are not 

necessarily limited to, the statements referred to in paragraph 74 above.   

101. Discovery in this case may reveal additional false oaths. 

Case 2:16-ap-00589-PS    Doc 2    Filed 12/14/16    Entered 12/14/16 13:35:15    Desc
 Main Document      Page 23 of 24

Case 2:17-cr-00680-GMS   Document 61-3   Filed 06/30/17   Page 24 of 25



 

-24- 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

102. As a result of Defendant’s conduct as alleged herein, Defendant is not 

entitled to a discharge in bankruptcy under 11 U.S.C. § 727(a)(4). 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE the United States Trustee respectfully requests that: 

A. Judgment be entered against the Defendant and in favor of the United 

States Trustee in this case;  

B. Defendant be denied a discharge in bankruptcy under 11 U.S.C. § 727; 

and  

C. The Court grant any other relief that the Court deems just and 

appropriate.   

 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 14th day of December, 2016. 

ILENE J. LASHINSKY 
      United States Trustee 
      District of Arizona 
 
      /s/ JAG (NY #2520005) 
      __________________________________ 
      JENNIFER A. GIAIMO 
      Trial Attorney 

 

 
 

Case 2:16-ap-00589-PS    Doc 2    Filed 12/14/16    Entered 12/14/16 13:35:15    Desc
 Main Document      Page 24 of 24

Case 2:17-cr-00680-GMS   Document 61-3   Filed 06/30/17   Page 25 of 25



Case 2:17-cr-00680-GMS   Document 61-4   Filed 06/30/17   Page 1 of 67



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

G
ut

til
la

 M
ur

ph
y 

An
de

rs
on

, P
.C

.
54

15
 E

. H
ig

h 
St

re
et

, S
ui

te
 2

00
Ph

oe
ni

x,
 A

Z
 8

50
54

(4
80

) 3
04

-8
30

0

GUTTILLA MURPHY ANDERSON
Ryan W. Anderson (Ariz. No. 020974)
5415 E. High St., Suite 200
Phoenix, Arizona  85054
Email: randerson@gamlaw.com
Phone: (480) 304-8300
Fax: (480) 304-8301

Attorneys for Receiver

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

In Re:

YOMTOV SCOTT MENAGED,

Debtor.

Case No. 2:16-bk-04268-PS

Chapter 7

PETER S. DAVIS, AS RECEIVER OF
DENSCO INVESTMENT
CORPORATION,

Plaintiff,

vs.

YOMTOV SCOTT MENAGED,
FRANCINE MENAGED, and their marital
community,

Defendants.

Adv. Case No. 2:17-ap-00116-PS

VERIFIED COMPLAINT TO
DETERMINE DISCHARGEABILITY OF
DEBT

Peter S. Davis, the court-appointed receiver of DenSco Investment Corporation (“Plaintiff” or

“Receiver”), by and through undersigned counsel, and for his complaint to determine the

dischargeability of debts against Yomtov Scott Menaged (“Debtor” or “Defendant”), Francine

Menaged, and their martial community (hereinafter “Defendants”) complains and alleges as follows:

I. INTRODUCTION

1. The Receiver has uncovered that the Defendants have orchestrated a series of

complicated fraud schemes taking advantage of procedures and processes utilized in the purchase of

real property at Foreclosure Sales for the sole purpose of defrauding the Plaintiff of $47,156,641.92.

2. Defendants utilized their ill-gotten gains from the various schemes to defraud the

Plaintiff to live a lavish lifestyle, support other unrelated businesses and the Defendants’ family
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members.

3. The direct cause of the Defendants’ fraudulent schemes has rendered the Plaintiff

insolvent and under the control of the Receiver.

4. Rather than address his insolvency as a result of the fraudulent schemes perpetrated

upon him by the Defendants, the sole owner and operator of the Plaintiff, Denny J. Chittick

committed suicide on or about July 28, 2016.

II. JURISDICTION, VENUE AND PARTIES

5. This action is a core proceeding.  This Court has jurisdiction over this proceeding

pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523 and 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(I).

6. This adversary is based upon both “core” a “non-core” claims.  Pursuant to Rule

7008, Fed.R.Bankr.P., the Plaintiff expressly consents to entry of a final order or judgement by the

Bankruptcy Court on all non-core claims brought in this Complaint along with any claims which are

core  claims,  but  over  which  a  Bankruptcy  Court  does  not  have  authority  to  enter  a  final  order  or

judgement (commonly referred to as Stern claims based upon Stern v. Marshall, 564 U.S. 462, 131

S. Ct. 2594 (2011) and its progeny).

7. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1409, venue for this action properly lies in this Court in that

the instant proceeding is related to the case under Title 11 of the United States Code, which is before

this Court.

8. Plaintiff is the Receiver for the DenSco Investment Corporation (“DenSco”)

appointed pursuant to the Order Appointing Receiver, dated August 18, 2016 in Arizona

Corporation Commission v. DenSco Investment Corporation CV2016-014142. See Order

Appointing Receiver, attached as Exhibit A.

9. Pursuant to the Order Appointing Receiver, the Receiver is authorized to institute

actions or proceedings in state or federal courts for the collection, preservation and maintenance of

the Receivership assets.

10. The Defendant, Yomtov Scott Menaged, is the Debtor herein.

11. At all times material to the factual allegations in this Complaint, the Defendant was
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married to Francine Menaged and all of the acts alleged by the Defendant Yomtov Scott Menaged

were for the benefit of the marital community of the Defendant and Francine Menaged.

12. The Defendants marital community benefited from the Defendant’s acts.

13. Defendant was or is the sole owner, member and manager of a number of limited

liability companies and other entities, including, but not limited to, Easy Investments (“Easy”)1 and

Arizona Home Foreclosures, LLC (“AHF”)2.

14. The conduct alleged herein was perpetrated by the Defendant and in many cases, his

use of Easy and AHF.

15. Defendants or their agents, entities, and companies caused all actions herein.

16. The Defendants are residents of the State of Arizona.

III. BACKGROUND AND FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

17. DenSco is an Arizona Corporation formed by Denny J. Chittick in April of 2001.

18. Denny J. Chittick (now deceased) was the sole owner, shareholder and operator of

DenSco during all times material to the transactions referenced herein.

19. DenSco was a “hard money lender” and its primary business was in funding “hard

money” loans for the purchase of real estate secured by deeds of trust.

20. DenSco’s hard money loans were funded from monies that DenSco raised from its

investors.  DenSco raised more than $85 Million from its investors pursuant to a securities offering,

in which the investors of DenSco were essentially unsecured general creditors of DenSco.

21. Upon information and belief between 2007 and 2008, DenSco began a lending

relationship with the Defendant and loaning the Defendant monies for the purchase of residential

real estate through foreclosure auctions.

22. At all material times herein Defendant utilized two of his limited liability companies,

Easy and AHF to solicit loans from DenSco.

23. Upon information and belief, Defendant learned through his ongoing relationship

1 See Debtor’s Third Amended Schedule A/B, docket number 102.
2 See Debtor’s Third Amended Schedule A/B, docket number 102.
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with DenSco that he could take advantage of DenSco’s lending practices and defraud DenSco by

employing a series of fraudulent schemes including: 1) intentionally obtaining two (2) hard money

loans on a single property that the Defendant had “purchased” at a foreclosure auction by tricking

different hard money lenders into believing that their respective loan was going to be secured against

the real property in a first position, and 2) falsifying documents to trick DenSco into believing that

Defendant had purchased property at a foreclosure auction and that DenSco’s loan was secured

against the related property, when in fact Defendants never purchased the property at all.

A. THE FIRST FRAUD

24. Starting sometime in 2011, Defendant began intentionally soliciting DenSco and

other unrelated hard money lenders for two hard money loans on the same subject real property that

the Defendant had purchased at a foreclosure auction by being the highest bidder.

25. When seeking loans from DenSco and the other unrelated hard money lenders, both

DenSco and the other unrelated hard money lenders were led to believe by Defendant that they

would be the sole lender on the property and their loan would be secured against the property with a

first position Deed of Trust.

26. Defendant learned that the delay in the recordation of the Foreclosure Trustees’ Deed

to the Buyer and the lending practices of DenSco allowed Defendant the opportunity to defraud

DenSco and the other hard money lenders by seeking two loans on property he purchased.

27. Defendant learned that while other hard money lenders would deliver funds it

intended to lend to the Defendant directly to the Foreclosure Trustee, DenSco’s lending practices

were to deliver loan proceeds directly to the Defendant, who was then obligated to deliver the loan

proceeds to the Foreclosure Trustee to finalize the Defendant’s purchase.

28. Defendant executed multiple promissory notes, deeds of trust and other documents

from DenSco and the other hard money lenders with the knowledge that he was soliciting two

separate loans from two separate lenders who unbeknownst to each other believed that they were the

only lender and would be the only secured creditor in first position.

29. Defendant orchestrated this fraud of obtaining two hard money loans on hundreds of
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residential  properties  with  each  of  the  respective  lenders  being  led  to  believe  that  they  were  first

position lien holders (hereinafter this fraudulent scheme of obtaining two hard money loans on

hundreds of properties purchased by the Defendant will be referred to as the “First Fraud”).  Some

examples of the First Fraud by Defendant, are as follows:

PROPERTY #1- GRAYHAWK PROPERTY:

30. On August 17, 2012, Defendant purchased 20802 North Grayhawk Drive, Unit 1076,

Scottsdale, AZ 85255 (“Grayhawk Property”) in the name of Easy for $274,100.00 at a trustee’s

sale.  See Trustee’s Deed Upon Sale (Maricopa County recorded document no. 20120866188).

a. On August 17, 2012, Defendant sent an email to DenSco and indicated that he

had purchased the Grayhawk Property and requested a loan in the amount of

$250,000.00. See Exhibit B-1.

b.  At the same time, Defendant obtained a loan in the amount of $264,100.00

from a third party lender, Active Funding Group, LLC (“Active”) to purchase

the property. See Notice  of  Deed  of  Trust  with  Assignment  of  Rents

(Maricopa County recorded document no. 20120773674).

c. In response to Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wired $250,000.00 to Easy’s

bank account on August 20, 2012.

d.  However,  Defendant  had  already  used  the  Grayhawk  Property  to  secure  a

$264,100.00 loan from Active.

e. Defendant, knowing he had obtained multiple loans against the Grayhawk

Property, executed and notarized a series of documents purporting to give

DenSco a first position lien against the Grayhawk Property including a

Mortgage, Deed of Trust and Promissory Note.

f. DenSco was not aware of Active’s first position lien on the Grayhawk

Property when it lent Defendant $250,000.00.

g. Defendant did not tell DenSco that he had sought and obtained a separate loan

secured against the Grayhawk Property.
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h. Given the multiple loans and liens, the Grayhawk Property was over-

encumbered by approximately $144,100.00 as of August 2012 due to the

fraud perpetrated by Defendant.

PROPERTY #2-SEXTON PROPERTY

31. On December 27, 2012, Defendant purchased 3740 E. Sexton St., Gilbert, AZ 85295

(“Sexton Property”) in the name of Easy for $186,000.00 at a trustee’s sale. See Trustee’s Deed

Upon Sale (Maricopa County recorded document no. 20130049406).

a. On December 27, 2012, Defendant sent an email to DenSco and indicated that

he had purchased the Sexton Property and requested a loan in the amount of

$150,000.00. See Exhibit B-2

b. At the same time, Defendant obtained a loan in the amount of $176,000.00

from a third party lender, Active to purchase the property. See Notice of Deed

of Trust with Assignment of Rents (Maricopa County recorded document no.

20130050214).

c. In response to Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wired $150,000.00 to Easy’s

bank account on December 28, 2012.

d.  However, Defendant had already used the Sexton Property to secure a

$176,000.00 loan from Active.

e. Defendant, knowing he had obtained multiple loans against the Sexton

Property, executed and notarized a series of documents purporting to give

DenSco a first position lien against the Sexton Property including a Mortgage,

Deed of Trust and Promissory Note.

f. DenSco was not aware of Active’s first position lien on the Sexton Property

when it lent Defendant $150,000.00.

g. Defendant did not tell DenSco that he had sought and obtained a separate loan

secured against the Sexton Property.

h. Given the multiple loans and liens, the Sexton Property was over-encumbered
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by approximately $140,000.00 as of December 2012 due to the fraud

perpetrated by Defendant.

PROPERTY #3-HADLEY ST. PROPERTY

32. On February 13, 2013, Defendant purchased 23949 W. Hadley St., Buckeye, AZ

85326 (“Hadley St. Property”) in the name of Easy for $116,500.00 at a trustee’s sale. See Trustee’s

Deed Upon Sale (Maricopa County recorded document no. 20130781470).

a. On February 13, 2013, Defendant sent an email to DenSco and indicated that

he had purchased the Hadley St. Property and requested a loan in the amount

of $90,000.00. See Exhibit B-3.

b. At the same time, Defendant obtained a loan in the amount of $94,500.00

from a third party lender, Active to purchase the property. See Notice of Deed

of Trust with Assignment of Rents (Maricopa County recorded document no.

20130143379).

c. In response to Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wired $90,000.00 to Easy’s

bank account on February 13, 2013.

d. However, Defendant had already used the Hadley St. Property to secure a

$94,500.00 loan from Active.

e. Defendant, knowing he had obtained multiple loans against the Hadley St.

Property, executed and notarized a series of documents purporting to give

DenSco a first position lien against the Hadley St. Property including a

Mortgage, Deed of Trust and Promissory Note.

f. DenSco was not aware of Active’s first position lien on the Hadley St.

Property.

g. Defendant did not tell DenSco that he had sought and obtained a separate loan

secured against the Hadley St. Property.

h. Given the multiple loans and liens, the Hadley St. Property was over-

encumbered by approximately $68,000.00 as of February 2013 due to the
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fraud perpetrated by Defendant.

PROPERTY #4-PALM ST. PROPERTY

33. On May 20, 2013, Defendant purchased 2681 S. Palm St., Gilbert, AZ 85295 (“Palm

St. Property”) in the name of Easy for $377,000.00 at a trustee’s sale. See Trustee’s Deed Upon Sale

(Maricopa County recorded document no. 20130509883).

a. On May 20, 2013, Defendant sent an email to DenSco and indicated that he

had purchased the Palm St. Property and requested a loan in the amount of

$300,000.00. See Exhibit B-4.

b. At the same time, Defendant obtained a loan in the amount of $301,600.00

from a third party lender, Sell Wholesale Funding, LLC who then assigned it

to  Azben  Limited,  LLC  (“Azben”)  to  purchase  the  Palm  St.  Property. See

Notice  of  Deed  of  Trust  with  Assignment  of  Rents  (Maricopa  County

recorded document no. 20130466815).

c. In response to Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wired $300,000.00 to Easy’s

bank account on May 21, 2013.

d. However,  Defendant  had  already  used  the  Palm  St.  Property  to  secure  a

$301,600.00 loan from Azben.

e. Defendant, knowing he had obtained multiple loans against the Palm St.

Property, executed and notarized a series of documents purporting to give

DenSco a first position lien against the Palm St. Property including a

Mortgage, Deed of Trust and Promissory Note.

f. DenSco was not aware of Azben’s first position lien on the Palm St. Property.

g. Defendant did not tell DenSco that he had sought and obtained a separate loan

secured against the Palm St. Property.

h. Given  the  multiple  loans  and  liens,  the  Palm  St.  Property  was  over-

encumbered by approximately $224,600.00 as of May 2013, due to the fraud

perpetrated by Defendant.
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PROPERTY #5-LYNX PROPERTY

34. On June 26, 2013, Defendant purchased 2968 E. Lynx Way, Gilbert, AZ 85298

(“Lynx Property”) in the name of Easy for $294,000.00 at a trustee’s sale. See Trustee’s Deed Upon

Sale (Maricopa County recorded document no. 20130619750).

a. On June 26, 2013, Defendant sent an email to DenSco and indicated that he

had purchased the Lynx Property and requested a loan in the amount of

$240,000.00. See Exhibit B-5.

b. At the same time, Defendant obtained a loan in the amount of $207,000.00

from a third party lender, Active to purchase the Lynx property. See Notice of

Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents (Maricopa County recorded

document no. 20130620044).

c. In response to Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wired $240,000.00 to Easy’s

bank account on June 27, 2013.

d. However, Defendant had already used the Lynx Property to secure a

$207,000.00 loan from Active.

e. Defendant, knowing he had obtained multiple loans against the Lynx

Property, executed and notarized a series of documents purporting to give

DenSco a first position lien against the Lynx Property including a Mortgage,

Deed of Trust and Promissory Note.

f. DenSco was not aware of Active’s first position lien on the Lynx Property.

g. Defendant did not tell DenSco that he had sought and obtained a separate loan

secured against the Lynx Property.

h. Given the multiple loans and liens, the Lynx Property was over-encumbered

by approximately $153,000.00 as of June 2013, due to the fraud perpetrated

by Defendant.

/ / /

/ / /
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PROPERTY #6-HAMMOND PROPERTY

35. On July 25, 2013, Defendant purchased 10440 W. Hammond Lane, Tolleson, AZ

85353 (“Hammond Property”) in the name of Easy for $139,500.00 at a trustee’s sale. See Trustee’s

Deed Upon Sale (Maricopa County recorded document no. 20130734745).

a. On July 25, 2013, Defendant sent an email to DenSco and indicated that he

had purchased the Hammond Property and requested a loan in the amount of

$100,000.00. See Exhibit B-6.

b. At the same time, Defendant obtained a loan in the amount of $111,600.00

from a third party lender, Geared Equity, LLC (“Geared”) to purchase the

Hammond Property. See Notice of Deed of Trust  with Assignment of Rents

(Maricopa County recorded document no. 20130687243).

c. In response to Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wired $100,000.00 to Easy’s

bank account on July 29, 2013.

d.  However, Defendant had already used the Hammond Property to secure a

$111,600.00 loan from Geared.

e. Defendant, knowing he had obtained multiple loans against the Hammond

Property, executed and notarized a series of documents purporting to give

DenSco a first position lien against the Hammond Property including a

Mortgage, Deed of Trust and Promissory Note.

f. DenSco was not aware of Geared’s first position lien on the Hammond

Property.

g. Defendant did not tell DenSco that he had sought and obtained a separate loan

secured against the Hammond Property.

h. Given the multiple loans and liens, the Hammond Property was over-

encumbered by approximately $72,000.00 as of July 2013, due to the fraud

perpetrated by Defendant.

/ / /
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PROPERTY #7-POTTER PROPERTY

36. On September 25, 2013, Defendant purchased 707 E. Potter Drive, Phoenix, AZ

85024 (“Potter Property”) in the name of Easy for $223,000.00 at a trustee’s sale. See Trustee’s

Deed Upon Sale (Maricopa County recorded document no. 20150309209).

a. On September 25, 2013, Defendant sent an email to DenSco and indicated that

he had purchased the Potter Property and requested a loan in the amount of

$170,000.00. See Exhibit B-7.

b. At the same time, Defendant obtained a loan in the amount of $178,407.00

from a third party lender, Geared to purchase the Potter Property. See Notice

of Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents (Maricopa County recorded

document no. 20130858878).

c. In response to Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wired $170,000.00 to Easy’s

bank account on September 25, 2013.

d. However,  Defendant  had  already  used  the  Potter  Property  to  secure  a

$178,407.00 loan from Geared.

e. Defendant, knowing he had obtained multiple loans against the Potter

Property, executed and notarized a series of documents purporting to give

DenSco a first position lien against the Potter Property including a Mortgage,

Deed of Trust and Promissory Note.

f. DenSco was not aware of Geared’s first position lien on the Potter Property.

g. Defendant did not tell DenSco that he had sought and obtained a separate loan

secured against the Potter Property.

h. Given the multiple loans and liens, the Potter Property was over-encumbered

by approximately $125,407.00 as of September 2013, due to the fraud

perpetrated by Defendant.

/ / /

/ / /
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PROPERTY #8-ASPEN PROPERTY

37. On October 03, 2013, Defendant purchased 15143 E. Aspen Dr., Fountain Hills, AZ

85268 (“Aspen Property”) for $261,100.00 at a trustee’s sale. See Trustee’s  Deed  Upon  Sale

(Maricopa County recorded document no. 20130901535).

a. On October 3, 2013, Defendant sent an email to DenSco and indicated that he

had purchased the Aspen Property and requested a loan in the amount of

$210,000.00. See Exhibit B-8.

b. At the same time, Defendant obtained a loan in the amount of $209,000.00

from a third party lender, Active to purchase the property. See Notice of Deed

of Trust with Assignment of Rents (Maricopa County recorded document no.

20130884152).

c. In response to Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wired $210,000.00 to Easy’s

bank account on October 4, 2013.

d. However, Defendant had already used the Aspen Property to secure a

$209,000.00 loan from Active.

e. Defendant, knowing he had obtained multiple loans against the Aspen

Property, executed and notarized a series of documents purporting to give

DenSco a first position lien against the Aspen Property including a Mortgage,

Deed of Trust and Promissory Note.

f. DenSco was not aware of Active’s first position lien on the Aspen Property.

g. Defendant did not tell DenSco that he had sought and obtained a separate loan

secured against the Aspen Property.

h. Given the multiple loans and liens, the Aspen Property was over-encumbered

by approximately $157,900.00 as of October 2013, due to the fraud

perpetrated by Defendant.

38. Upon information and belief, the Defendant orchestrated the First Fraud, to defraud

DenSco by obtaining two loans from separate lenders though the use of fraud and deception, at least
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one hundred and twenty six (126)3 times between 2011 and 2013.

39. In November of 2013, DenSco became aware of the First Fraud.

40. DenSco learned that the Defendant had double encumbered over a hundred properties

and that Defendant had intentionally mislead DenSco to believe that DenSco was the only lender

with a promissory note secured by a Deed of Trust in first position on all the subject properties.

41.  Specifically, on November 27, 2013, Defendant met with Denny J. Chittick and lied

to Mr. Chittick about the facts and circumstances of the First Fraud.

42. When  confronted  by  DenSco,  Defendant  told  Mr.  Chittick  that  his  wife  had  cancer

and that the Defendant’s “cousin” had masterminded the First Fraud while he was distracted by

taking care of his sick wife.

43. When DenSco confronted the Defendant about the use of the proceeds from the First

Fraud, the Defendant told DenSco that the Defendant’s cousin had absconded to Israel with the

proceeds wrongfully gained from the First Fraud.

44. Upon information and belief, Denny J. Chittick died in 2016 never knowing that

Defendant had lied about the true nature of the First Fraud and that Defendant made up the false

story that the “cousin” had misappropriated the DenSco funds.

45. Defendant admitted that he devised, facilitated, and operated the First Fraud and

utilized the proceeds from the First Fraud for other purposes, including repayment of other DenSco

loans, living expenses, gambling and the acquisition of personal assets.

46. Defendant admitted that DenSco had no knowledge that it could be in second position

on any loans that were solicited by Defendant during the First Fraud.

B. THE FORBEARANCE AGREEMENT

47. Between November 2013 and April 2014, DenSco and Defendant sorted through all

of the properties double encumbered by DenSco and other lenders as a result of the Defendants’

actions in the operation of the First Fraud.

3To keep the page size of this complaint reasonable, the Plaintiff provided examples of 8 of the 126
transactions that give rise to the First Fraud.
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48. The  Defendant  concocted  a  resolution  of  the  First  Fraud  by  entering  into  a

Forbearance Agreement (and the related, attached, incorporated, amended and additional documents

incorporated into the Forbearance Agreement therein) with DenSco. See Exhibit C.

49. Pursuant to the Forbearance Agreement, the Defendant, at the time of the Forbearance

Agreement, was indebted to DenSco in the amount of $37,420,120.474. See Forbearance

Agreement, page 3 (ACC000237), paragraph 1.

50. As set forth in the Forbearance Agreement, Defendant admitted that certain properties

were used as security for one or more loans from one or more other lenders and that DenSco may not

be in first position on each respective property. See Forbearance Agreement, page 2 (ACC000236),

paragraph G.

51. As set forth in the Forbearance Agreement, Defendant guaranteed the repayment of

$37,420,120.47 to DenSco. See Forbearance Agreement, page 3 (ACC000237), paragraph 1.

52. As set forth in the Forbearance Agreement, Defendant agreed to liquidate his other

assets, which he represented to be valued at approximately $4 to $5 Million Dollars, use rental

income from his properties and other means to pay the sum due under the Forbearance Agreement.

See Forbearance Agreement, page 4 (ACC00238), paragraph 6(A).

53. As set forth in the Forbearance Agreement, Defendant agreed to obtain outside

financing and deliver $4.2 Million Dollars to DenSco by September 15, 2014. See Forbearance

Agreement, page 5 (ACC000239), paragraph F.

54. DenSco’s books and records report two unsecured receivables currently due from

Defendant from the First Fraud:  a balance of $15,519,078.48 under the Forbearance Agreement and

another $1,133,012.11 classified as “Work Out 1 Million”.

55. A total of $16,652,090.59 is due from the Defendant under the Forbearance

Agreement as of the Petition Date.

56. The Defendant acknowledges the debt owed under the Forbearance Agreement on his

4 However, the Defendant originally, purposefully, concealed the debt to DenSco under the Forbearance Agreement
from his Bankruptcy Schedules. See Original Schedule F filed on April 20, 2016, docket number 10.
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Amended Schedule E/F. See Amended Schedule E/F filed at Docket 94, page 26 of 56.

57. Upon information and belief, Defendant Francine Menaged was aware of the

Forbearance Agreement and the First Fraud as she executed certain documents in support of the

Forbearance Agreement including a detailed representation and disclaimer agreement.

58. Defendant also issued promissory notes and deeds of trust securing such in

Defendant’s related real properties:  Michelle Menaged- 9103 E. Charter Oak Dr., Scottsdale, AZ

85260; Easy Investments- 1605 W. Winter Dr., Phoenix, AZ 85021; Easy Investments- 9555 E.

Raintree Dr. #1004, Scottsdale, AZ 85260; and Jess Menaged- 9555 E. Raintree Dr., #1020,

Scottsdale, AZ 85260 (“Promissory Notes”) for $2,382,251.33.

C. THE SECOND FRAUD

59. Upon information and belief, due to the massive amounts of money that were owed to

DenSco by Defendant under the Forbearance Agreement, DenSco and Defendant continued to do

business together with DenSco agreeing to continue funding hard money loans to Defendant for the

purchase of real estate from foreclosure auctions.

60. However, after the discovery of the First Fraud, DenSco and Defendant altered their

business practices for all future loans from DenSco to Defendant.

61. Starting in January 2014, loans between DenSco and Defendant required that

Defendant provide DenSco with copies of the specific cashier’s checks, issued by the Defendant’s

bank to the respective foreclosure trustee, as well as copies of the receipts received by Defendant

from the foreclosure trustee for the purchase of a property by Defendant at a trustee’s sale.

62. DenSco’s requirement that Defendant provides to DenSco the evidence that the

Defendant had purchased the underlying real property (by providing a copy of the cashier’s check

used  by  Defendant  to  purchase  the  property  and  obtain  a  copy  of  the  receipt  that  the  Defendant

received from the foreclosure trustee) was a direct result of Defendant’s fraudulent actions which

gave rise to the First Fraud.

63. Under the new lending practices, Defendant obtained a total of 2,712 loans from

DenSco between January 2014 and June 2016.

Case 2:17-ap-00116-PS    Doc 1    Filed 01/31/17    Entered 01/31/17 14:04:06    Desc
 Main Document      Page 15 of 66

Case 2:17-cr-00680-GMS   Document 61-4   Filed 06/30/17   Page 16 of 67



16

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

G
ut

til
la

 M
ur

ph
y 

An
de

rs
on

, P
.C

.
54

15
 E

. H
ig

h 
St

re
et

, S
ui

te
 2

00
Ph

oe
ni

x,
 A

Z
 8

50
54

(4
80

) 3
04

-8
30

0

64. However, the Plaintiff has determined that only 96 of these loans were secured by the

actual purchase of real estate at a trustees’ sale or otherwise.

65. The Defendant engaged in a systematic and comprehensive scheme to defraud

DenSco for a second time through the use and creation of falsified checks, deeds, contracts and

receipts related to the purported purchase of real property at trustee a sale (the “Second Fraud”).

66.  The Plaintiff has determined that despite the new requirement that Defendant was to

provide DenSco with evidence of each cashier’s check and receipt confirming each purchase,

Defendant caused the issuance of cashier’s checks that Defendant never intended to use for the

purchase of properties and intentionally falsified trustee’s sale receipts purporting to evidence the

purchase of properties that never happened.

67. The Second Fraud is sophisticated in that Defendant obtained cashier’s checks from

his bank to make it appear that he was actually using the DenSco loan proceeds to purchase property

from a foreclosure trustee, when in fact, Defendant obtained the cashier’s check for the sole purpose

of simply taking a picture of the cashier’s check to send to DenSco to make it appear that the

DenSco funds were being used to purchase real property.

68. Upon information and belief, in furtherance of the Second Fraud, the Defendant

identified the address of the property that Defendant had falsely represented to DenSco was

purchased on each of the cashier’s checks.

69. In furtherance of the Second Fraud, Defendant executed, notarized and provided to

DenSco a series of documents purporting to give DenSco a first position lien against the property

that Defendant had falsely represented to DenSco was purchased by Defendant, including a

Mortgage, Deed of Trust and Promissory Note.

70. The Second Fraud is sophisticated in that Defendant falsified hundreds of receipts

from foreclosure trustees in an effort to confirm that the Defendant actually purchased the property

at the foreclosure sale.

71.  The Defendant skillfully created fraudulent receipts from different companies,

foreclosure trustees, law firms and other organizations for the sole purpose of convincing DenSco
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that it used the DenSco funds to purchase real property.

72. The Defendant was extremely diligent and detailed in the creation of the false

receipts, as he was careful to ensure the check number from the cashier’s check that was obtained

matched the number of the cashier’s check on the receipt.

73. The Defendant caused each of the fraudulent receipts to be signed by not only the

purported foreclosure trustee, but also one of his agents, typically Luigi Amoroso.

74. Each individual fraudulent receipt was intricately prepared by Defendant for the sole

purpose to defraud DenSco and trick DenSco into believing that Defendant had actually used

DenSco’s funds for the purchase of real property, when in fact, Defendant simply utilized DenSco’s

funds for his own purposes. Some examples of the Second Fraud, as operated by Defendant, are as

follows:

#1. FRAUDULENT LOAN FOR 1207 EAST MARCO POLO ROAD, PHOENIX, AZ

75. On December 9, 2014, Defendant e-mailed DenSco identifying that he needed a loan

to complete the purchase of three properties that he purportedly purchased at a foreclosure sale

including a loan request for $147,000.00 to purchase 1207 East Marco Polo Road, Phoenix, AZ

(“Marco Polo Property”). See Exhibit D-1.

76. In his loan request, Defendant provided DenSco with the recording information for

the purported foreclosure/trustee sale where Defendant allegedly purchased the Marco Polo

Property. See Exhibit D-1.

77. On December 9, 2014, in response to the Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wire

transferred $1,309,200.00 to the Defendant, including $147,300.00 to fund Defendant’s alleged

purchase of the Marco Polo Property.

78. On December 10, 2014, Defendant signed and provided to DenSco an executed and

notarized Mortgage, Deed of Trust and Promissory Note purporting to secure DenSco’s loan against

the  Marco  Polo  Property.   The  Mortgage  was  recorded  by  DenSco  at  Maricopa  County  Recorder

number 20140811246. See Exhibit D-1.

79. Defendant sent a photograph of cashier’s check, number 9018122689 to DenSco.
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This photograph shows a cashier’s check made payable to Auction.com LLC and specifically

identifies it as “DenSco Payment 1207 East Marco Polo Rd”  and is in the amount of $137,309.00.

See Exhibit D-1.

80. On the next day, Defendant provided to DenSco a picture of a “Trustee Certificate of

Sale/Receipt”  (“Fake  Receipt”)  purporting  to  evidence  the  sale  of  the  Marco  Polo  Property  to  the

Defendant.

81. The Fake Receipt was created by the Defendant, or at the direction of the Defendant,

for the sole purpose to defraud DenSco and make it appear that the Defendant had purchased the

Marco Polo Property.

82. The Fake Receipt contains information that one would expect to see on a receipt from

a foreclosure trustee, including the address of the Marco Polo Property, that cashier’s check number

9018122689 was received by the trustee and the Fake Receipt is even signed by Luigi Amoroso and

allegedly a representative of the trustee in an effort to add to its authenticity.

83. Despite the false representations of Defendant that it purchased the Marco Polo

Property, the foreclosure sale never took place and on February 4, 2015, Trustee David W. Cowles

filed a Cancellation of Trustee Sale. See Recorder number 20150072452.

#2. FRAUDULENT LOAN FOR 7835 EAST MACKENZIE DRIVE, SCOTTSDALE, AZ

84. On December 9, 2014, Defendant e-mailed DenSco identifying that he needed a loan

to complete the purchase of three properties that he purportedly purchased at a foreclosure sale

including a loan request for $267,100.00 to purchase 7835 East Mackenzie Drive, Scottsdale, AZ

(“Mackenzie Drive Property”). See Exhibit D-2.

85. In his loan request, Defendant provided DenSco with the recording information for

the purported foreclosure/trustee sale where Defendant allegedly purchased the Mackenzie Drive

Property. See Exhibit D-2.

86. On December 9, 2014, in response to the Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wire

transferred $1,309,200.00 to the Defendant, including $267,100.00 to fund Defendant’s alleged

purchase of the Mackenzie Drive Property.
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87. On December 10, 2014, Defendant signed and provided to DenSco an executed and

notarized Mortgage, Deed of Trust and Promissory Note purporting to secure DenSco’s loan against

the Mackenzie Drive Property. The Mortgage was recorded by DenSco at Maricopa County

Recorder number 20140811247. See Exhibit D-2.

88. Defendant sent a photograph of cashier’s check, number 9018122690 to DenSco.

This photograph shows a cashier’s check made payable to Auction.com LLC and specifically

identifies it as “DenSco Payment 7835 Mackenzie” and is in the amount of $257,109.00. See

Exhibit D-2.

89. On the next day, Defendant provided to DenSco a picture of a “Trustee Certificate of

Sale/Receipt” purporting to evidence the sale of the Mackenzie Drive Property to the Defendant.

This was another Fake Receipt.

90. The Fake Receipt was created by the Defendant, or at the direction of the Defendant,

for the sole purpose to defraud DenSco and make it appear that the Defendant had purchased the

Mackenzie Drive Property.

91. The Fake Receipt contains information that one would expect to see on a receipt from

a foreclosure trustee, including the address of the Mackenzie Drive Property, that cashier’s check

number 9018122690 was received by the trustee and the Fake Receipt is even signed by Luigi

Amoroso and a representative of the trustee in an effort to add to its authenticity.

92. Despite the false representations of Defendant that it purchased the Mackenzie Drive

Property, the foreclosure sale never took place and on February 10, 2015, Trustee David W. Cowles

filed a Cancellation of Trustee Sale. See Maricopa County Recorder number 20150085661.

#3. FRAUDULENT LOAN FOR 9532 WEST AVENIDA DEL SOL, PEORIA, AZ

93. On August 15, 2014, Defendant e-mailed DenSco identifying that he needed a loan to

complete the purchase of four properties that he purportedly purchased at a foreclosure sale

including a loan request for $271,400.00 to purchase 95323 W. Avenida Del Sol, Peoria, AZ

(“Avenida Property”). See Exhibit D-3.

94. In his loan request, Defendant provided DenSco with the recording information for
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the purported foreclosure/trustee sale where Defendant allegedly purchased the Avenida Property.

See Exhibit D-3.

95. On August 18, 2014, in response to the Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wire

transferred $896,900.00 to the Defendant, including $271,400.00 to fund Defendant’s alleged

purchase of the Avenida Property.

96. On August 18, 2014, Defendant signed and provided to DenSco an executed and

notarized Mortgage, Deed of Trust and Promissory Note purporting to secure DenSco’s loan against

the  Avendia  Property.   The  Mortgage  was  recorded  by  DenSco  at  Maricopa  County  Recorder

number 20140542817. See Exhibit D-3.

97. Defendant sent a photograph of cashier’s check, number 901812XXX5 dated August

18, 2014 to DenSco. This photograph shows a cashier’s check made payable to David W. Cowles,

Trustee and specifically identifies it as “DenSco Payment 9532 W. Avenida Del Sol” and is in the

amount of $261,409.00. See Exhibit D-3.

98. On the next day, Defendant provided to DenSco a picture of a Receipt (another Fake

Receipt) purporting to evidence the sale of the Avendia Property to the Defendant.

99. The Fake Receipt was created by the Defendant, or at the direction of the Defendant,

for the sole purpose to defraud DenSco and make it appear that the Defendant had purchased the

Avendia Property.

100. The Fake Receipt contains information that one would expect to see on a receipt from

a foreclosure trustee, including the address of the Avendia Property and it purports to be on the

letterhead of the Law Firm of Tiffany and Bosco P.A.

101. The Fake Receipt is purportedly signed by an employee of Tiffany and Bosco P.A in

an effort to add to its authenticity.

102. Tiffany and Bosco P.A. reviewed the Fake Receipt and have advised it is fake and

never produced by its law firm or any of its employees.

5 The last few digits on this cashier’s check are not visible in the picture sent by Defendant to DenSco.
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103. Despite the false representations of Defendant that it purchased the Avendia Property,

the foreclosure sale never took place and on September 19, 2014, Trustee David W. Cowles filed a

Cancellation of Trustee Sale. See Recording number 2014622557.

#4. FRAUDULENT LOAN FOR 9029 EAST MCDOWELL ROAD, MESA, AZ

104. On January 28, 2015, Defendant e-mailed DenSco identifying that he needed a loan

to complete the purchase of five properties that he purportedly purchased at a foreclosure sale

including a loan request for $509,600.00 to purchase 9029 E. McDowell Road, Mesa (“McDowell

Property”). See Exhibit D-4.

105. In his loan request, Defendant provided DenSco with the recording information for

the purported foreclosure/trustee sale where Defendant allegedly purchased the McDowell Property.

See Exhibit D-4.

106. On January 29, 2015, in response to the Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wire

transferred $1,244,800.00 to the Defendant, including $509,600.00 to fund Defendant’s alleged

purchase of the McDowell Property.

107. On January 29, 2015, Defendant signed and provided to DenSco an executed and

notarized Mortgage, Deed of Trust and Promissory Note purporting to secure DenSco’s loan against

the McDowell Property.  The Mortgage was recorded by DenSco at Maricopa County Recorder

number 20150058659. See Exhibit D-4.

108. Defendant sent a photograph of cashier’s check, number 9018123303 dated January

29, 2015 to DenSco. This photograph shows a cashier’s check made payable to “Trustee Corps.” and

specifically identifies it as “DenSco Payment 9029 E. McDowell Rd” and is in the amount of

$499,610.00. See Exhibit D-4.

109. On the next day, Defendant provided to DenSco a picture of another fake Receipt

purporting to evidence the sale of the McDowell Property to the Defendant.

110. The Fake Receipt was created by the Defendant, or at the direction of the Defendant,

for the sole purpose to defraud DenSco and make it appear that the Defendant had purchased the

McDowell Property.
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111. The Fake Receipt contains information that one would expect to see on a receipt from

a foreclosure trustee, including the address of the McDowell Property, that cashier’s check number

9018123303 was received by the Trustee and the Fake Receipt is even signed and dated by Luigi

Amoroso and a representative of the Trustee in an effort to add to its authenticity

112. Despite the false representations of Defendant that it purchased the McDowell

Property, the foreclosure sale never took place and on October 9, 2013, nearly two years before the

alleged trustee sale was conducted where the Defendant purchased the McDowell Property, Trustee

MTC Financial Inc., dba Trustee Corps filed a Cancellation of Trustee Sale. See Maricopa County

Recorder number 20130901609.

#5. FRAUDULENT LOAN FOR 18626 EAST PURPLE SAGE DRIVE, QUEEN CREEK, AZ

113. On June 24, 2015, Defendant e-mailed DenSco identifying that he needed a loan to

complete the purchase of seven properties that he purportedly purchased at a foreclosure sale

including a loan request for $304,500.00 to purchase 18626 East Purple Sage Drive, Queen Creek,

AZ (“Purple Sage Property”). See Exhibit D-5.

114. In his loan request, Defendant provided DenSco with the recording information for

the purported foreclosure/trustee sale where Defendant allegedly purchased the Purple Sage

Property. See Exhibit D-5.

115. On June 25, 2015, in response to the Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wire

transferred $1,634,800.00 to the Defendant, including $304,500.00 to fund Defendant’s alleged

purchase of the Purple Sage Property.

116. On June 25, 2015, Defendant signed and provided to DenSco an executed and

notarized Mortgage, Deed of Trust and Promissory Note purporting to secure DenSco’s loan against

the Purple Sage Property.  The Mortgage was recorded by DenSco at Maricopa County Recorder

number 20150454537. See Exhibit D-5.

117. Defendant sent a photograph of cashier’s check, number 9031814078 dated June 24,

2015 to DenSco. This photograph shows a cashier’s check made payable to “David W. Cowles,

Trustee.” and specifically identifies it as “DenSco Payment 18626 East Purple Sage Drive” and is in
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the amount of $294,509.00. See Exhibit D-5.

118. On the next day, Defendant provided to DenSco a picture of a “Trustee Certificate of

Sale/Receipt”, yet again another fake receipt, purporting to evidence the sale of the Purple Sage

Property to the Defendant.

119. The Fake Receipt was created by the Defendant, or at the direction of the Defendant,

for the sole purpose to defraud DenSco and make it appear that the Defendant had purchased the

Purple Sage Property.

120. The Fake Receipt contains information that one would expect to see on a receipt from

a foreclosure trustee, including the address of the Purple Sage Property, that cashier’s check number

9031814078 was received by the Trustee and the Fake Receipt is even signed and dated by Luigi

Amoroso and a representative of the Trustee in an effort to add to its authenticity.

121. Moreover, in an effort to add to its authenticity, the Fake Receipt is stamped by

“Auction.com for Tiffany and Bosco PA” with an address in Newport Beach California.

122. Despite  the  false  representations  of  Defendant  that  it  purchased  the  Purple  Sage

Property, the foreclosure sale never took place and on August 5, 2015, Trustee David W. Cowles

filed a Cancellation of Trustee Sale. See Maricopa County Recorder number 20150579092.

#6. FRAUDULENT LOAN FOR 14034 NORTH 44TH PLACE, PHOENIX, AZ

123. On June 29, 2015, Defendant’s assistant, Veronica Castro, e-mailed DenSco6

identifying that the Defendant needed a loan to complete the purchase of six properties that he

purportedly purchased at a foreclosure sale including a loan request for $287,100.00 to purchase

14034 North 44th Place, Phoenix, AZ (“North 44th Place Property”). See Exhibit D-6.

124. In his loan request, Defendant provided DenSco with the recording information for

the purported foreclosure/trustee sale where Defendant allegedly purchased the North 44th Place.

See Exhibit D-6.

125. On June 30, 2015, in response to the Defendant’s loan request, DenSco wire

6 This e-mail was also sent to the Defendant on June 29, 2015.
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transferred $1,502,000.00 to the Defendant, including $287,100.00 to fund Defendant’s alleged

purchase of the North 44th Place Property.

126. On June 30, 2015, Defendant signed and provided to DenSco an executed and

notarized Mortgage, Deed of Trust and Promissory Note purporting to secure DenSco’s loan against

the  North  44th Place Property.  The Mortgage was recorded by DenSco at Maricopa County

Recorder number 20150470141. See Exhibit D-6.

127. Defendant sent a photograph of cashier’s check, number 9031815052 dated June 29,

2015 to DenSco. This photograph shows a cashier’s check made payable to “FATSS” and

specifically identifies it as “DenSco Payment 14034 North 44th Pl” and is in the amount of

$277,100.00. See Exhibit D-6.

128. On the next day, Defendant provided to DenSco a picture of a “3rd Party Trustee Sale

Instruction & Receipt”, Fake Receipt, purporting to evidence the sale of the North 44th Place

Property to the Defendant.

129. The Fake Receipt was created by the Defendant, or at the direction of the Defendant,

for the sole purpose to defraud DenSco and make it appear that the Defendant had purchased the

North 44th Place Property.

130. The Fake Receipt contains information that one would expect to see on a receipt from

a  foreclosure  trustee,  including  the  address  of  the  North  44th Place Property, that cashier’s check

number 9031815052 was received by the Trustee and the Fake Receipt is even signed and dated by

Luigi Amoroso and a representative of the Trustee in an effort to add to its authenticity.

131. Despite the false representations of Defendant that it purchased the North 44th Place

Property, the foreclosure sale never took place and on December 18, 2015, First American Title

Company filed a Cancellation of Trustee Sale. See Maricopa County Recorder number

20150212767.

132. Upon information and belief, the Defendant perpetrated the Second Fraud upon

DenSco between January 2014 and June 2016.

133. During this time period, Defendant solicited and DenSco funded a total of two-
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thousand, seven hundred and twelve (2,712) loans.

134. The Receiver has determined that of these 2,712 loans only ninety-six were secured

by the actual purchase of real property by the Defendant.

135. DenSco lent Defendant a total of $15,001,843.42 for the 96 loans that were secured

against real property purchased by the Defendants.

136. The Receiver has determined that the other 2,616 loans7 made  to  Defendant  by

DenSco were not secured by any real property, because Defendant never purchased the underlying

property, despite representations that the Defendant had done so.

137. The Defendant admitted in his 2004 examination that the Fake Receipt listed in each

of the above 6 properties, as well as the receipts for all of the other properties not actually purchased,

was not a legitimate receipt. See Exhibit D-7, Excerpt from Scott Menaged’s 2004 Examination,

page 224, lines 24-25, page 225, lines 1-9 (Q= Defendant’s Counsel, A= Defendant).

138. The Receiver has determined that a total of $734,484,440.67 was lent to Defendant as

a result of Defendant’s operation of the Second Fraud.

139. Defendant intentionally concealed his embezzlement, and diversion of DenSco funds,

and made misrepresentations regarding the business transactions, purchases and liens, to obtain and

cover up his embezzlement and defalcation of DenSco funds through the use of false pretenses.

140. As a result of the Second Fraud, DenSco is an unsecured creditor and the Debtor has

provided DenSco a series of unsecured promissory notes obtained under false pretenses.

141. DenSco, unbeknownst to it, and outside of the scope of the business dealings with the

Defendant, was now an unsecured creditor of the Defendant.

142. The balance owed by the Defendant to DenSco under the terms of the unsecured

promissory notes is $30,504,551.33 (“Promissory Note Balance”). See Exhibit E.

7 To keep the page size of this complaint reasonable, the Plaintiff provided examples of only 6 of the 2,616
transactions that give rise to the Second Fraud.
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D. THE THIRD FRAUD

143. On April 20, 2016, the Defendant filed a Voluntary Petition under Chapter 7 of the

United States Bankruptcy Code (“Petition Date”).

144. Despite the requirement under penalty of perjury to disclose all of your creditors, the

Debtor’s statements and schedules failed to list DenSco as a creditor, and therefore DenSco was not

notified of the bankruptcy.

145. Sometime in June 2016, DenSco discovered that the Defendant had filed bankruptcy

and began to investigate its open loans to Defendant.

146. Denny Chittick confronted the Defendant about lack of security interests in real estate

despite hundreds of executed notes and deeds of trust and the Defendant conceded there were no

security interests in the properties.

147. Instead  of  telling  DenSco  the  truth  about  the  Second  Fraud,  the  Defendant  made  a

series of misrepresentations to DenSco designed to keep DenSco from taking action against

Defendant.

148. In  a  conversation,  recorded  by  Denny  Chittick  before  he  committed  suicide,  the

Defendant told Mr. Chittick that he did not misappropriate any money from DenSco, but all of the

DenSco funds were being held by a foreclosure trustee company called Auction.com. See Exhibit

F-1 - [excerpts from Transcript of Recorded Conversation Denny Chittick and Yomtov Scott

Menaged (“Conversation Transcript”)], page 97, lines 2-24.

149. Specifically, perpetuating the Second Fraud, Defendant told Denny Chittick that there

was $31.8 Million held by foreclosure trustee Auction.com. See Exhibit F-2 - Conversation

Transcript, page 102, lines 17-21.

150. The Defendant admitted to Denny Chittick that he had destroyed all of his records of

the Fake Receipts, and that he would never testify that the $31.8 Million existed or was being held

by Auction.com. See Exhibit F-3 – Conversation Transcript, page 86, lines 3-25, continued to page

87, lines 1-3.

151. The Defendant admitted to Denny Chittick that he undertook affirmative steps to
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conceal his embezzlement, and diversion of DenSco funds.  The Defendant admitted that the Fake

Receipts evidencing the purported sales were not available as they were created on Veronica

Castro’s computer and the computer was now “gone”. See Exhibit F-4 - excerpts from Conversation

Transcript, page 91, lines 7-11.

152. The Defendant told Denny Chittick that the outstanding sum due to DenSco would be

repaid by funds currently held with Auction.com and after the Bankruptcy Case was over and the

Defendant intended to wire the money overseas and “incorporate” himself, and then “start taking

cash from there every [expletive] day, every day”. See Exhibit F-5 - Conversation Transcript, page

97, lines 2-24.

153. The Defendant told Denny Chittick that he believed the DenSco funds are “sitting in a

trust account, not in the name of auction.com.” See Exhibit F-6 - Conversation Transcript, page 40,

lines 10-25.

154. The Defendant told Mr. Chittick that he would never “talk” about all of the DenSco

money at auction.com because it would result in him going to prison. See Exhibit F-7 -

Conversation Transcript, page 27, lines 16-25.

155. During his 2004 exam, the Defendant testified that no money was held at Aution.com

for the benefit of DenSco and that he lied to Denny J. Chittick about the money being held at

Auction.com.

156. According to the Defendant, DenSco is an unsecured creditor of the Debtor. See

Amended Schedules, docket #94.

157. Defendant’s  conduct  with  respect  to  DenSco,  as  alleged  herein,  was  willful  and

malicious and intended to cause injury and harm.

158. DenSco is entitled to a judgment that declares and determines that its claims against

the Defendants, and the Defendants’ debts and liabilities owed to DenSco, are not dischargeable in

this bankruptcy case.

COUNT I - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

159. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding
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paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

160. To obtain a determination that a debt is nondischargeable under Section 523(a)(2) of

the Bankruptcy Code, the creditor must prove the following elements:

a. The Debtor made a misrepresentation;

b. The Debtor knew the misrepresentation was false at the time it was made;

c. The representation was deliberately made for the purpose of deceiving the

creditor;

d. The creditor justifiably relied on the representation; and

e. The creditor sustained a loss or damages as a proximate result of the

representation being made.

161. At the time of First Fraud, the information provided by Defendant that DenSco was in

first position on the properties was materially false and DenSco relied on such information.

162. The Defendant made a misrepresentation to DenSco that it held or would hold a first

position lien against the property.

163. The Defendant knew DenSco was not a first position lien holder.

164. The Defendant lied to DenSco to obtain funds.

165. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements.

166. DenSco sustained substantial financial loss of at least $16,652,090.59 by not being in

a first security position.

167. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT I(A)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

168. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

169. At the time of purchase of the Grayhawk Property, the information provided by

Defendant that DenSco was a first position lien holder on the property was materially false and

DenSco relied on such information.
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170. The Defendant made a misrepresentation to DenSco that it held or would hold a first

position lien against the Grayhawk Property.

171. The Defendant knew DenSco was not a first position lien holder given its dealings

with Active.

172. The Defendant lied to DenSco to obtain funds.

173. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements.

174. DenSco sustained substantial financial loss by not being in first security position

against the Grayhawk Property.

175. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT I(B)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

176. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

177. At the time of purchase of the Sexton Property, the information provided by

Defendant that DenSco was a first position lien holder on the property was materially false and

DenSco relied on such information.

178. The Defendant made a misrepresentation to DenSco that it held or would hold a first

position lien against the Sexton Property.

179. The Defendant knew DenSco was not a first position lien holder given its dealings

with Active.

180. The Defendant lied to DenSco to obtain funds.

181. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements.

182. DenSco sustained substantial financial loss by not being in first security position

against the Sexton Property.

183. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).
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COUNT I(C)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

184. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

185. At the time of purchase of the Hadley Property, the information provided by

Defendant that DenSco was a first position lien holder on the property was materially false and

DenSco relied on such information.

186. The Defendant made a misrepresentation to DenSco that it held or would hold a first

position lien against the Hadley Property.

187. The Defendant knew DenSco was not a first position lien holder given its dealings

with Active.

188. The Defendant lied to DenSco to obtain funds.

189. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements.

190. DenSco sustained substantial financial loss by not being in first security position

against the Hadley Property.

191. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT I(D)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

192. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

193. At the time purchase of the Palm St. Property, the information provided by Defendant

that DenSco was a first position lien holder on the property was materially false and DenSco relied

on such information.

194. The Defendant made a misrepresentation to DenSco that it held or would hold a first

position lien against the Palm St. Property.

195. The Defendant knew DenSco was not a first position lien holder given its dealings

with Azben.

196. The Defendant lied to DenSco to obtain funds.
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197. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements.

198. DenSco sustained substantial financial loss by not being in first security position

against the Palm St. Property.

199. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT I(E)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

200. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

201. At the time purchase of the Lynx Property, the information provided by Defendant

that DenSco was a first position lien holder on the property was materially false and DenSco relied

on such information.

202. The Defendant made a misrepresentation to DenSco that it held or would hold a first

position lien against the Lynx Property.

203. The Defendant knew DenSco was not a first position lien holder given its dealings

with Active.

204. The Defendant lied to DenSco to obtain funds.

205. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements.

206. DenSco sustained substantial financial loss by not being in first security position

against the Lynx Property.

207. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendant s’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT I(F)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

208. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

209. At the time purchase of the Hammond Property, the information provided by

Defendant that DenSco was a first position lien holder on the property was materially false and

DenSco relied on such information.
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210. The Defendant made a misrepresentation to DenSco that it held or would hold a first

position lien against the Hammond Property.

211. The Defendant knew DenSco was not a first position lien holder given its dealings

with Geared.

212. The Defendant lied to DenSco to obtain funds.

213. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements.

214. DenSco sustained substantial financial loss by not being in first security position

against the Hammond Property.

215. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT I(G)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

216. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

217. At the time purchase of the Potter Property, the information provided by Defendant

that DenSco was in first position on the property was materially false and DenSco relied on such

information.

218. The Defendant made a misrepresentation to DenSco that it held or would hold a first

position debt against the Potter Property.

219. The Defendant knew DenSco was not in first position given its dealings with Geared.

220. The Defendant lied to DenSco to obtain funds.

221. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements.

222. DenSco sustained substantial financial loss by not being in first security position

against the Potter Property.

223. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT I(H)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

224. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding
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paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

225. At the time purchase of the Aspen Property, the information provided by Defendant

that DenSco was a first position lien holder on the property was materially false and DenSco relied

on such information.

226. The Defendant made a misrepresentation to DenSco that it held or would hold a first

position lien against the Aspen Property.

227. The Defendant knew DenSco was not a first position lien holder given its dealings

with Active.

228. The Defendant lied to DenSco to obtain funds.

229. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements.

230. DenSco sustained substantial financial loss by not being in first security position

against the Aspen Property.

231. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT II - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

232. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

233. During the Second Fraud, the receipts created by the Defendant evidencing the

purchase of properties were forged and fake.

234. The Defendant presented the Fake Receipts to DenSco.

235. The Defendant and/or AHF knew the receipts were fake as the properties had not

been purchased.

236. The receipts were provided to DenSco trick DenSco into believing that numerous

properties had been purchased with DenSco funds.

237. DenSco relied on the Fake Receipts as evidence that the cashier’s checks were used to

purchase the properties.

238. DenSco sustained a loss of at least $28,122,300.00 by not purchasing the properties.
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See Exhibit I - Spreadsheet of unsecured loans for properties in the Second Fraud.

239. Defendant kept the $28,122,300.00 funds for his personal use and benefit.

240. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT II(A)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

241. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

242. The Fake Receipt provided by AHF confirming the purchase of the Avenida property

was a forgery.

243. The Defendant and/or AHF knew the Avenida Receipt was fake.

244. The Avenida Receipt was provided to confirm the purchase of the Avenida property.

245. DenSco relied on the Avenida Receipt as evidence that cashier’s check 901812XXX

was used to purchase the Avenida property.

246. DenSco sustained a loss of at least $261,409.00 by not purchasing the Avenida

property.

247. Defendant kept the $261,409.00 funds for his personal use and benefit.

248. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT II(B) - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

249. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

250. At the time of the Second Fraud, the Fake Receipts given to DenSco by the Defendant

were materially false.

251. The Defendant knew that the Fake Receipts were fraudulent documents as he never

actually finalized the sales supported by the Fake Receipts.

252. The Defendant used the Fake Receipts to obtain funds from DenSco.

253. DenSco relied on that Fake Receipts and lent funds based on the misrepresentation.
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254. DenSco sustained damages of at least $28,122,300.00 based on the Fake Receipts

issued during the Second Fraud.

255. Upon information and belief, 2,616 loans made to Defendant by DenSco were not

secured by any real property because Defendant never purchased the underlying property, despite

representation and Fake Receipts that the Defendant had done so.

256. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2)(A).

COUNT II(C) - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

257. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

258. At the time of the Second Fraud, the mortgages, deeds of trust, and promissory notes

given to DenSco by the Defendant were materially false.

259. The Defendant knew that the mortgages, deeds of trust, and promissory notes were

fraudulent documents as he never actually finalized the sales supported by the mortgages, deeds of

trust, and promissory notes.

260. The Defendant used the mortgages, deeds of trust, and promissory notes to obtain

funds from DenSco.

261. DenSco relied on that mortgages, deeds of trust, and promissory notes and lent funds

based on the misrepresentation.

262. Upon information and belief, 2,616 loans made to Defendant by DenSco were not

secured by any real property because Defendant never purchased the underlying property, despite

representation and mortgages, deeds of trust, and promissory notes that the Defendant had done so

263. DenSco sustained damages of at least $28,122,300.00 based on the false documents

issued during the Second Fraud.

264. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2)(A).
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COUNT III- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

265. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

266. The Deeds of Trust generated under the Second Fraud confirming the purchase of the

properties were provided solely to deceive DenSco.

267. The Defendant and/or AHF knew the Deeds of Trust were not being recorded.

268. The Deeds of Trust were provided to show the purchase of the properties.

269. DenSco relied on the validity of the Deeds of Trust.

270. DenSco relied on the Deeds of Trust as evidence that the cashier’s checks were used

to purchase the properties.

271. DenSco sustained a loss of at least $28,122,300.00 by not purchasing the properties.

272. Defendant kept the $28,122,300.00 funds for his own personal use and benefit.

273. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT III(A)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

274. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

275. The  Deed  of  Trust  for  the  Mackenzie  Drive  Property  giving  DenSco  a  security

interest in said property was provided solely to deceive DenSco.

276. The  Defendant  and/or  AHF  knew  the  Deed  of  Trust  for  Mackenzie  Drive  Property

would not be recorded.

277. The  Deed  of  Trust  for  the  Mackenzie  Drive  Property  was  provided  to  show  the

purchase of the property.

278. DenSco relied on the validity of the Deed of Trust for the Mackenzie Drive Property.

279. DenSco  relied  on  the  Deed  of  Trust  for  the  Mackenzie  Drive  Property  as  evidence

that the funds wired to AHF were used to purchase the Mackenzie Drive Property.

280. DenSco sustained a loss of at least $267,100.00 by not purchasing the Mackenzie
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Drive Property.

281. Defendant kept the $267,100.00 funds for his own personal use and benefit.

282. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT III(B)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

283. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

284. The Deed of Trust for the Marco Polo Property giving DenSco a security interest in

said property was provided solely to deceive DenSco.

285. The  Defendant  and/or  AHF  knew  the  Deed  of  Trust  for  the  Marco  Polo  Property

would not be recorded.

286. The Deed of Trust for the Marco Polo Property was provided to show the purchase of

the property.

287. DenSco relied on the validity of the Deed of Trust for the Marco Polo Property.

288. DenSco relied on the Deed of Trust for the Marco Polo Property as evidence that

funds wired to AHF were used to purchase the Marco Polo property.

289. DenSco sustained a loss of at least $147,000.00 by not purchasing the Marco Polo

property.

290. Defendant kept the $147,000.00 funds for his own personal use and benefit.

291. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT III(C)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

292. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

293. The Deed of Trust for the Avenida Del Sol Property giving DenSco a security interest

in said property was provided solely to deceive DenSco.

294. The Defendant and/or AHF knew the Deed of Trust for the Avenida Del Sol Property
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would not be recorded.

295. The  Deed  of  Trust  for  the  Avenida  Del  Sol  Property  was  provided  to  show  the

purchase of the property.

296. DenSco relied on the validity of the Deed of Trust for the Avenida Del Sol Property.

297. DenSco relied on the Deed of Trust for the Avenida Del Sol Property as evidence that

funds wired to AHF were used to purchase the Avenida Del Sol Property.

298. DenSco sustained a loss of at least $271,400.00 by not purchasing the Avenida

property.

299. Defendant kept the $271,400.00 funds for his personal use and benefit.

300. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT III(D)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

301. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

302. The Deed of Trust for the McDowell Property giving DenSco a security interest in

said property was provided solely to deceive DenSco.

303. The  Defendant  and/or  AHF  knew  the  Deed  of  Trust  for  the  McDowell  Property

would not be recorded.

304. The Deed of Trust for the McDowell Property was provided to show the purchase of

the property.

305. DenSco relied on the validity of the Deed of Trust for the McDowell Property.

306. DenSco relied on the Deed of Trust for the McDowell Property as evidence that funds

wired to AHF were used to purchase the McDowell Property.

307. DenSco sustained a loss of at least $499,610.00 by not purchasing the McDowell

Property.

308. Defendant kept the $499,610.00 funds for his own personal use and benefit.

309. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found
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nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT III(E)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

310. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

311. The Deed of Trust for the Purple Sage Property giving DenSco a security interest in

said property was provided solely to deceive DenSco.

312. The Defendant and/or AHF knew the Deed of Trust for the Purple Sage Property

would not be recorded.

313. The Deed of Trust for the Purple Sage Property was provided to show the purchase of

the property.

314. DenSco relied on the validity of the Deed of Trust for the Purple Sage Property.

315. DenSco  relied  on  the  Deed  of  Trust  for  the  Purple  Sage  Property  as  evidence  that

funds wired to AHF were used to purchase the Purple Sage Property.

316. DenSco sustained a loss of at least $294,509.00 by not purchasing the Purple Sage

Property.

317. Defendant kept the $294,509.00 funds for his own personal use and benefit.

318. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT III(F)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

319. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

320. The Deed of Trust for the North 44th Place Property giving DenSco a security interest

in said property was provided solely to deceive DenSco.

321. The Defendant and/or AHF knew the Deed of Trust for the North 44th Place Property

would not be recorded.

322. The  Deed  of  Trust  for  the  North  44th Place  Property  was  provided  to  show  the

purchase of the property.
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323. DenSco relied on the validity of the Deed of Trust for the North 44th Place Property.

324. DenSco relied on the Deed of Trust for the North 44th Place Property as evidence that

funds wired to AHF were used to purchase the North 44th Place Property.

325. DenSco sustained a loss of at least $277,100.00 by not purchasing the North 44th

Place Property.

326. Defendant kept the $277,100.00 funds for his own personal use and benefit.

327. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT IV- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

328. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

329. The Second Fraud was done solely to deceive and defraud DenSco.

330. The  Defendant  created  falsified  checks,  deeds,  contracts,  and  receipts  related  to  the

purported purchase of real properties at trustee sales.

331. All of the documents created during the Second Fraud scheme, by the Defendant or

for the Defendant’s behalf, were created and used to deceive DenSco.

332. The Defendant knew the falsified checks, deeds, contracts, and receipts related to the

purchase of the properties were false.

333. DenSco relied on the validity of the documents presented by the Defendant during the

Second Fraud.

334. DenSco sustained a substantial loss of at least $28,122,300.00 due to the Second

Fraud.

335. The Defendant kept the $28,122,300.00 for his own personal use and benefit.

336. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT V - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

337. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding
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paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

338. On July 25, 2016 the Defendant told DenSco that the funds were available through

Auction.com and would be paid to him after the bankruptcy case closed.

339. The Defendant’s statements about Auction.com holding any funds for Defendant or

DenSco were false.

340. The  Defendant  admitted  that  Auction.com  did  not  and  does  not  hold  any  of

Defendant’s funds.

341. The Defendant admitted that Auction.com did not and does not hold any of DenSco’s

funds.

342. The  Defendant  made  the  statements  about  Auction.com  to  hold  off  DenSco’s

collection efforts.

343. DenSco believed the Defendant.

344. DenSco suffered a substantial financial loss of at least $47,156,641.92.

345. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2).

COUNT VI - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2))

346. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

347. Throughout the relationship, the Defendant obtained money and property from

DenSco through false pretenses, false representations, fraud and concealment.

348. The Defendant represented, among other things, that he would act in an honest,

trustworthy, and truthful manner with respect to DenSco’s money and property.

349. DenSco reasonably and justifiably relied on the Defendant in his business

relationship, to provide honest and truthful services, and therefore allowed the Defendant to have

access to DenSco’s accounts, money and property.

350. The Defendant intentionally took money and property from DenSco, which he was

not entitled to take, for his own personal benefit and for third parties.
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351. The Defendant misrepresented and concealed the purposes for which he obtained and

used DenSco’s money and property.

352. The Defendant’s misrepresentations of DenSco’s money caused DenSco to suffer

substantial damages.

353. The Defendant’s embezzlement of DenSco’s money caused DenSco to suffer

substantial damages

354. DenSco  is  entitled  to  compensatory  and  punitive  damages  in  an  amount  of  at  least

$47,156,641.92 plus interest to the fullest extent permitted by law, and reasonable attorneys’ fees

and costs.

355. Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2), the Defendants are not entitled to a discharge as to

the debts and liabilities owed to DenSco.

COUNT VII - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2)(A))

356. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

357. At the time of the Forbearance Agreement, the Defendant’s statements that he would

repay the sum due from the First Fraud were materially false and DenSco relied on such information.

358. Defendant had no intention of repaying DenSco for the First Fraud.

359. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2)(A).

COUNT VIII - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2)(A))

360. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

361. The Defendant’s statements that he would repay the sum due under the Second Fraud

by the funds held in Auction.com were materially false.

362. DenSco relied on such information.

363. Defendant had no intention of repaying DenSco from Auction.com as Auction.com is

not holding any funds for DenSco or the Defendant.
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364. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2)(A).

COUNT IX - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(2)(A))

365. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

366. On November 27, 2013, the Defendant confessed to Denny Chittick and DenSco that

certain properties involved in the First Fraud had also been used as security for one or more loans

from  one  or  more  other  lenders  and  that  DenSco  may  not  be  a  first  position  lien  holder  on  each

respective property.

367. Defendant had no intention of providing DenSco with first position security interests

in the properties.

368. Defendant knew at the time of securing the properties that DenSco believed it would

be a first position lien holder.

369. Defendant knew that it granted a first position lien on many of the properties to other

lenders even though it obtained DenSco’s funds for that very purpose.

370. The Forbearance Agreement confirms Defendant’s false representations and

intentions.

371. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(2)(A).

COUNT X - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

372. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

373. A debt is nondischargeable under Section 523(a)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code, for

fraud or defalcation while acting in a fiduciary capacity, embezzlement, or larceny.

374. Embezzlement is defined as the act of withholding assets for the purpose of

conversion of such assets, by one or more persons to whom the assets were entrusted, either to be

held or used for a specific purpose.
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375. A relationship between Defendant and DenSco existed as far back as 2011 when the

parties began their property purchase transactions.

376. DenSco relied on Defendant to use DenSco’s funds to purchase property for the

benefit of DenSco.

377. The Defendant acquired access to DenSco’s funds through their relationship of

Defendant purchasing property for DenSco’s business portfolio.

378. The Defendant kept DenSco’s funds which were allocated for the purchase of

property, or rerouted the funds allocated for the purchase of property, into Defendant’s accounts.

379. The Defendant intentionally took and kept DenSco’s funds.

380. The Defendant embezzled from DenSco.

381. DenSco suffered a financial loss of at least $47,156,641.92 as a result of Defendant’s

embezzlement.

382. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XI - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

383. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

384. A relationship between Defendant and DenSco existed as far back as 2007 when the

parties began their property purchase transactions.

385. The Defendant perpetrated the Second Fraud on DenSco from 2014 through 2016.

386. The Defendant perpetrated the Third Fraud on DenSco when he lied about the

existence of the Auction.com funds, and the ability to repay DenSco.

387. DenSco relied on Defendant to repay the funds from the Second Fraud.

388. DenSco relied on the Defendant to repay the funds owed under the Forbearance

Agreement, subsequent work out agreements, Promissory Notes, and Second Fraud.

389. DenSco believed that the Defendant held the funds in Auction.com.

390. The Defendant intentionally took and kept DenSco’s funds.
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391. The Defendant embezzled from DenSco and was fully aware that he would not repay

DenSco from funds held by Auction.com.

392. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt of $47,156,641.92 to

Receiver be found nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XII - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

393. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

394. A debt is nondischargeable under Section 523(a)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code, for

fraud or defalcation while acting in a fiduciary capacity, embezzlement, or larceny.

395. Defalcation includes acts that taint a particular debt such that it cannot be discharged.

396. Defalcation requires proof of “a culpable state of mind… involving knowledge of, or

gross recklessness in respect to, the improper nature of the relevant fiduciary behavior.”  Bullock v.

BankChampaign, N.A. 133 S. Ct 1754 at p. 1757 (2013).

397. DenSco entrusted the Debtor with access to its accounts, money and property, to,

among other things, acquire additional properties and Deeds of Trust for DenSco.

398. The Defendant intentionally and fraudulently misused his position and access to

embezzle money from DenSco for his own personal benefit.

399. The Defendant knew he was taking DenSco’s funds without purchasing property.

400. The Defendant knew he was keeping DenSco’s funds for his own benefit.

401. The Defendant concealed his actions from DenSco by providing Fake Receipts and/or

Deeds of Trust.

402. The Defendant concealed his embezzlement of DenSco’s money by, among other

things, not returning the cashier’s checks, or funds associated with each cashier’s check, when a sale

was not completed.

403. The Defendant’s conduct constituted defalcation in a fiduciary capacity.

404. The Defendant admitted he took DenSco’s funds.

405. The Defendant’s actions caused DenSco to suffer substantial damage, including but
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not limited to the inability to pay legitimate company debts and obligations.

406. Defendant is entitled to compensatory and punitive damages in an amount to be

proven at trial, plus interest to the fullest extent permitted by law, and reasonable attorney’s fees and

costs.

407. Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4), the Defendants are not entitled to a discharge as to

the debts and liabilities owed to DenSco.

COUNT XII(A) - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

408. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

409. A debt is nondischargeable under Section 523(a)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code, for

fraud or defalcation while acting in a fiduciary capacity, embezzlement, or larceny.

410. DenSco entrusted the Debtor with access to its accounts, money and property, to,

among other things, acquire additional properties and Deeds of Trust for DenSco.

411. The Defendant intentionally and fraudulently misused his position and access to

embezzle money from DenSco for his own personal benefit.

412. The Defendant knew he was taking DenSco’s funds without purchasing property.

413. The Defendant falsified the receipt evidencing the purchase of the Avenida Property.

414. The Defendant never purchased the Avenida Property, and ultimately redeposited the

funds associated with cashier’s check 901812xxx into a bank account under his control.

415. The Defendant’s conduct constituted defalcation in a fiduciary capacity.

416. The Defendant’s actions caused DenSco to suffer substantial damage, including but

not limited to the inability to pay legitimate company debts and obligations.

417. Defendant is entitled to compensatory and punitive damages in an amount to be

proven at trial, plus interest to the fullest extent permitted by law, and reasonable attorney’s fees and

costs.

418. Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4), the Defendants are not entitled to a discharge as to

the debts and liabilities owed to DenSco.
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COUNT XIII - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

419. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

420. Larceny is defined as the unlawful taking of the personal property of another person

or business.

421. The Defendant unlawfully took DenSco’s personal property.

422. The Defendant admitted that he took DenSco’s funds.

423. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ full debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XIV - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

424. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

425. A debt is nondischargeable under Section 523(a)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code, for

fraud or defalcation while acting in a fiduciary capacity, embezzlement, or larceny.

426. Actionable fraud requires the concurrence of nine elements: (1) a representation;

(2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) the speaker’s knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of its truth;

(5) his intent that it should be acted upon by the person and in a manner reasonably contemplated;

(6) the hearer’s ignorance of its falsity; (7) his reliance on its truth; (8) his right to rely thereon, and

(9) his consequent and proximate injury.

427. During the First Fraud, the Defendant engaged in practices of obtaining two hard

money loans for first position deeds of trust on the same property.

428. The Defendant executed multiple promissory note, deeds of trust and other

documents representing his purchase of real property and the hard money lenders first position

security interest on such property.

429. Defendant’s representations to DenSco that it was in first position on the subject

property was false, given that Defendant knew that another lender was already in first position

against the subject property.
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430. Defendant admitted in the Forbearance Agreement that he knew that certain

properties were used as security for one or more loans from one or more lenders and that DenSco

was not in first position on each respective loan.

431. The status of a first position lien holder v. a second position lien holder is significant,

and material.

432. The Defendant knew the order of the various lenders’ positions against the subject

properties as he orchestrated the purchase of the property and communicated with the various

lenders regarding the same.  The Defendant knew his statements to DenSco that it was in first

position were false.

433. Defendant intended for DenSco to rely on the information that it was in first position

to encourage more transactions.

434. DenSco provided funds, and received promissory notes and deeds of trust based on

the Defendants’ representation that DenSco was in first position on the properties.

435. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements, documents and further actions.

436. DenSco had a right to rely on Defendant’s statements and documents, and the

continued lending practices and on-going business relationship of the party.

437. DenSco suffered damages of $37,420,120.47 for the First Fraud committed upon him

by the Defendant.

438. The Defendant acknowledged the First Fraud, entered into the Forbearance

Agreement and paid down on the debt prior to the bankruptcy filing.  The debt owed on the Petition

Date under the Forbearance Agreement for the First Fraud is $16,652,090.59.

439. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XIV(A)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

440. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

441. For the purchase of the Grayhawk Property, the Defendant engaged in his then
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common  practice  of  obtaining  two  hard  money  loans  for  first  position  deeds  of  trust  on  the  same

property.

442. The Defendant sent DenSco an email indicating that he purchased the Grawhawk

Property and needed a loan of $250,000.00.

443. Meanwhile the Defendant obtained a loan from Active to purchase the same property,

and Active recorded its’ deed of trust.

444. Defendant’s representations to DenSco that it was in first position on the subject

property was false, given that Defendant knew that Active was already in first position against the

subject property.

445. Defendant admitted in the Forbearance Agreement that he knew that certain

properties, including the Grayhawk Property, were used as security for one or more loans from one

or more lenders and that DenSco was not in first position for his loan.

446. The status of a first position lien holder v. a second position lien holder is significant,

and material, especially given the value of the Grayhawk Property.

447. The Defendant knew that Active was in first position on the property and that DenSco

believed it was in first position on the Grayhawk Property.

448. Defendant intended for DenSco to rely on the information that it was in first position

on the Grayhawk Property since Defendant obtained funds from DenSco for that purpose.

449. DenSco provided funds, and received a promissory note and deed of trust based on

the Defendant’s representation that DenSco was in first position on the Grayhawk Property.

450. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements, documents and further actions.

451. Defendant failed to tell DenSco about Active’s first position status.

452. DenSco had a right to rely on Defendant’s statements and documents, given that

DenSco lent the Defendant $250,000.00 for the specific purpose of being the first position lender on

the Grayhawk Property.

453. DenSco suffered damages of at least $144,100.00 for fraud committed upon him by

the Defendant for the Grayhawk Property.
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454. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XIV(B)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

455. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

456. For the purchase of the Sexton Property, the Defendant engaged in his then common

practice of obtaining two hard money loans for first position deeds of trust on the same property.

457. The Defendant sent DenSco an email indicating that he purchased the Sexton

Property and needed a loan of $150,000.00.

458. Meanwhile the Defendant obtained a loan from Active to purchase the same property,

and ultimately Active recorded its’ deed of trust.

459. Defendant’s representations to DenSco that it was in first position on the subject

property was false, given that Defendant knew that Active was already set to claim its’ first position

security interest against the subject property.

460. Defendant admitted in the Forbearance Agreement that he knew that certain

properties, including the Sexton Property, were used as security for one or more loans from one or

more lenders and that DenSco was not in first position for his loan.

461. The status of a first position lien holder v. a second position lien holder is significant,

and material, especially given the value of the Sexton Property.

462. The Defendant knew that Active was in first position on the property and that DenSco

believed it was in first position on the Sexton Property.

463. Defendant intended for DenSco to rely on the information that it was in first position

on the Sexton Property since Defendant obtained funds from DenSco for that purpose.

464. DenSco provided funds, and received a promissory note and deed of trust based on

the Defendant’s representation that DenSco was in first position on the Sexton Property.

465. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements, documents and further actions.

466. Defendant failed to tell DenSco about Active’s first position status.
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467. DenSco had a right to rely on Defendant’s statements and documents, given that

DenSco lent the Defendant $150,000.00 for the specific purpose of being the first position lender on

the Sexton Property.

468. DenSco suffered damages of at least $140,000.00 for fraud committed upon him by

the Defendant for the Sexton Property.

469. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XIV(C)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

470. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

471. For the purchase of the Hadley St. Property, the Defendant engaged in his then

common  practice  of  obtaining  two  hard  money  loans  for  first  position  deeds  of  trust  on  the  same

property.

472. The Defendant sent DenSco an email indicating that he purchased the Hadley St.

Property and needed a loan of $90,000.00.

473. Meanwhile the Defendant obtained a loan from Active to purchase the same property,

and ultimately Active recorded its’ deed of trust.

474. Defendant’s representations to DenSco that it was in first position on the subject

property was false, given that Defendant knew that Active was already set to claim its’ first position

security interest against the subject property.

475. Defendant admitted in the Forbearance Agreement that he knew that certain

properties, including the Hadley St. Property, were used as security for one or more loans from one

or more lenders and that DenSco was not in first position for his loan.

476. The status of a first position lien holder v. a second position lien holder is significant,

and material, especially given the value of the Hadley St. Property.

477. The Defendant knew that Active was in first position on the property and that DenSco

believed it was in first position on the Hadley St. Property.
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478. Defendant intended for DenSco to rely on the information that it was in first position

on the Hadley St. Property since Defendant obtained funds from DenSco for that purpose.

479. DenSco provided funds, and received a promissory note and deed of trust based on

the Defendant’s representation that DenSco was in first position on the Hadley St. Property.

480. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements, documents and further actions.

481. Defendant failed to tell DenSco about Active’s first position status.

482. DenSco had a right to rely on Defendant’s statements and documents, given that

DenSco lent the Defendant $90,000.00 for the specific purpose of being the first position lender on

the Hadley St. Property.

483. DenSco suffered damages of at least $68,000.00 for fraud committed upon him by the

Defendant for the Hadley St. Property.

484. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XIV(D)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

485. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

486. For the purchase of the Palm St. Property, the Defendant engaged in his then common

practice of obtaining two hard money loans for first position deeds of trust on the same property.

487. The  Defendant  sent  DenSco  an  email  indicating  that  he  purchased  the  Palm  St.

Property and needed a loan of $300,000.00.

488. Meanwhile the Defendant obtained a loan from Azben to purchase the same property,

and ultimately Azben recorded its’ deed of trust.

489. Defendant’s representations to DenSco that it was in first position on the subject

property was false, given that Defendant knew that Azben was already set to claim its’ first position

security interest against the subject property.

490. Defendant admitted in the Forbearance Agreement that he knew that certain

properties, including the Palm St. Property, were used as security for one or more loans from one or
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more lenders and that DenSco was not in first position for his loan.

491. The status of a first position lien holder v. a second position lien holder is significant,

and material, especially given the value of the Palm St. Property.

492. The Defendant knew that Azben was in first position on the property and that DenSco

believed it was in first position on the Palm St. Property.

493. Defendant intended for DenSco to rely on the information that it was in first position

on the Palm St. Property since Defendant obtained funds from DenSco for that purpose.

494. DenSco provided funds, and received a promissory note and deed of trust based on

the Defendant’s representation that DenSco was in first position on the Palm St. Property.

495. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements, documents and further actions.

496. Defendant failed to tell DenSco about Azben’s first position status.

497. DenSco had a right to rely on Defendant’s statements and documents, given that

DenSco lent the Defendant $300,000.00 for the specific purpose of being the first position lender on

the Palm St. Property.

498. DenSco suffered damages of at least $224,600.00 for fraud committed upon him by

the Defendant for the Palm St. Property.

499. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XIV(E)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

500. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

501. For the purchase of the Lynx Property, the Defendant engaged in his then common

practice of obtaining two hard money loans for first position deeds of trust on the same property.

502. The Defendant sent DenSco an email indicating that he purchased the Lynx Property

and needed a loan of $240,000.00.

503. Meanwhile the Defendant obtained a loan from Active to purchase the same property,

and ultimately Active recorded its’ deed of trust.
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504. Defendant’s representations to DenSco that it was in first position on the subject

property was false, given that Defendant knew that Active was already set to claim its’ first position

security interest against the subject property.

505. Defendant admitted in the Forbearance Agreement that he knew that certain

properties, including the Lynx Property, were used as security for one or more loans from one or

more lenders and that DenSco was not in first position for his loan.

506. The status of a first position lien holder v. a second position lien holder is significant,

and material, especially given the value of the Lynx Property.

507. The Defendant knew that Active was in first position on the property and that DenSco

believed it was in first position on the Lynx Property.

508. Defendant intended for DenSco to rely on the information that it was in first position

on the Lynx Property since Defendant obtained funds from DenSco for that purpose.

509. DenSco provided funds, and received a promissory note and deed of trust based on

the Defendant’s representation that DenSco was in first position on the Lynx Property.

510. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements, documents and further actions.

511. Defendant failed to tell DenSco about Active’s first position status.

512. DenSco had a right to rely on Defendant’s statements and documents, given that

DenSco lent the Defendant $240,000.00 for the specific purpose of being the first position lender on

the Lynx Property.

513. DenSco suffered damages of at least $153,000.00 for fraud committed upon him by

the Defendant for the Lynx Property.

514. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XIV(F)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

515. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

516. For the purchase of the Hammond Property, the Defendant engaged in his then
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common  practice  of  obtaining  two  hard  money  loans  for  first  position  deeds  of  trust  on  the  same

property.

517. The Defendant sent DenSco an email indicating that he purchased the Hammond

Property and needed a loan of $100,000.00.

518. Meanwhile the Defendant obtained a loan from Geared to purchase the same

property, and ultimately Geared recorded its’ deed of trust.

519. Defendant’s representations to DenSco that it was in first position on the subject

property was false, given that Defendant knew that Geared was already set to claim its’ first position

security interest against the subject property.

520. Defendant admitted in the Forbearance Agreement that he knew that certain

properties, including the Hammond Property, were used as security for one or more loans from one

or more lenders and that DenSco was not in first position for his loan.

521. The status of a first position lien holder v. a second position lien holder is significant,

and material, especially given the value of the Hammond Property.

522. The  Defendant  knew  that  Geared  was  in  first  position  on  the  property  and  that

DenSco believed it was in first position on the Hammond Property.

523. Defendant intended for DenSco to rely on the information that it was in first position

on the Hammond Property since Defendant obtained funds from DenSco for that purpose.

524. DenSco provided funds, and received a promissory note and deed of trust based on

the Defendant’s representation that DenSco was in first position on the Hammond Property.

525. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements, documents and further actions.

526. Defendant failed to tell DenSco about Geared’s first position status.

527. DenSco had a right to rely on Defendant’s statements and documents, given that

DenSco lent the Defendant $100,000.00 for the specific purpose of being the first position lender on

the Hammond Property.

528. DenSco suffered damages of at least $72,000.00 for fraud committed upon him by the

Defendant for the Hammond Property.

Case 2:17-ap-00116-PS    Doc 1    Filed 01/31/17    Entered 01/31/17 14:04:06    Desc
 Main Document      Page 55 of 66

Case 2:17-cr-00680-GMS   Document 61-4   Filed 06/30/17   Page 56 of 67



56

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

G
ut

til
la

 M
ur

ph
y 

An
de

rs
on

, P
.C

.
54

15
 E

. H
ig

h 
St

re
et

, S
ui

te
 2

00
Ph

oe
ni

x,
 A

Z
 8

50
54

(4
80

) 3
04

-8
30

0

529. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XIV(G)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

530. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

531. For the purchase of the Potter Property, the Defendant engaged in his then common

practice of obtaining two hard money loans for first position deeds of trust on the same property.

532. The Defendant sent DenSco an email indicating that he purchased the Potter Property

and needed a loan of $170,000.00.

533. Meanwhile the Defendant obtained a loan from Geared to purchase the same

property, and ultimately Geared recorded its’ deed of trust.

534. Defendant’s representations to DenSco that it was in first position on the subject

property was false, given that Defendant knew that Geared was already set to claim its’ first position

security interest against the subject property.

535. Defendant admitted in the Forbearance Agreement that he knew that certain

properties, including the Potter Property, were used as security for one or more loans from one or

more lenders and that DenSco was not in first position for his loan.

536. The status of a first position lien holder v. a second position lien holder is significant,

and material, especially given the value of the Potter Property.

537. The  Defendant  knew  that  Geared  was  in  first  position  on  the  property  and  that

DenSco believed it was in first position on the Potter Property.

538. Defendant intended for DenSco to rely on the information that it was in first position

on the Potter Property since Defendant obtained funds from DenSco for that purpose.

539. DenSco provided funds, and received a promissory note and deed of trust based on

the Defendant’s representation that DenSco was in first position on the Potter Property.

540. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements, documents and further actions.

541. Defendant failed to tell DenSco about Geared’s first position status.
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542. DenSco had a right to rely on Defendant’s statements and documents, given that

DenSco lent the Defendant $170,000.00 for the specific purpose of being the first position lender on

the Potter Property.

543. DenSco suffered damages of at least $125,407.00 for fraud committed upon him by

the Defendant for the Potter Property.

544. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XIV(H)- NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

545. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

546. For the purchase of the Aspen Property, the Defendant engaged in his then common

practice of obtaining two hard money loans for first position deeds of trust on the same property.

547. The Defendant sent DenSco an email indicating that he purchased the Aspen Property

and needed a loan of $210,000.00.

548. Meanwhile the Defendant obtained a loan from Active to purchase the same property,

and ultimately Aspen recorded its’ deed of trust.

549. Defendant’s representations to DenSco that it was in first position on the subject

property was false, given that Defendant knew that Active was already set to claim its’ first position

security interest against the subject property.

550. Defendant admitted in the Forbearance Agreement that he knew that certain

properties, including the Aspen Property, were used as security for one or more loans from one or

more lenders and that DenSco was not in first position for his loan.

551. The status of a first position lien holder v. a second position lien holder is significant,

and material, especially given the value of the Aspen Property.

552. The Defendant knew that Active was in first position on the property and that DenSco

believed it was in first position on the Aspen Property.

553. Defendant intended for DenSco to rely on the information that it was in first position
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on the Aspen Property since Defendant obtained funds from DenSco for that purpose.

554. DenSco provided funds, and received a promissory note and deed of trust based on

the Defendant’s representation that DenSco was in first position on the Aspen Property.

555. DenSco relied on the Defendant’s statements, documents and further actions.

556. Defendant failed to tell DenSco about Active’s first position status.

557. DenSco had a right to rely on Defendant’s statements and documents, given that

DenSco lent the Defendant $210,000.00 for the specific purpose of being the first position lender on

the Aspen Property.

558. DenSco suffered damages of at least $157,900.00 for fraud committed upon him by

the Defendant for the Aspen Property.

559. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XV - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

560. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

561. During the Second Fraud, the Defendant once again lied to DenSco and obtained

millions of dollars through his fraudulent actions.

562. The Defendant issued cashier’s checks that were never used for the intended purchase

of real property, and provided a picture of said cashier’s check to DenSco indicating that it was in

fact used to purchase property.

563. The  Defendant  provided  receipts  to  DenSco  indicating  the  Defendant’s  payment  of

funds for the subject property, however the receipts were Fake Receipts.

564. The Defendant executed a series of documents, including mortgages, deeds of trust,

and promissory notes (“Documents”) purporting to give DenSco a first position lien against the

property that Defendant had falsely represented to DenSco was purchased by the Defendant.

565. The Defendant upped his game and implemented this sophisticated Second Fraud

against DenSco, given that DenSco had put in security measures to protect DenSco’s funds and
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interest after the First Fraud.

566. The cashier’s checks, Fake Receipts and Documents provided to DenSco was

representations.

567. The cashier’s checks, Fake Receipts and Documents provided to DenSco during the

Second Fraud were false documents.

568. The purchase of the property through the cashier’s check, the receipt for such

purchase, and the accompanying documents evidencing the purchase and security agreement are all

material facts involved in real estate transactions.

569. As  Defendant  knew  he  did  not  actually  purchase  any  specific  property  with  the

cashier’s check he knew sending a picture of the cashier’s check with a property address on it to

DenSco was conveying a false representation.

570. As Defendant knew he did not actually purchase any specific property, he must have

known that the Fake Receipt he provided to DenSco was false and conveying a false representation.

571. As the knew he did not actually purchase any specific property, he knew that the

Documents were false and that he was conveying a false representation.

572. The Defendant knew that DenSco would rely on the cashier’s check, Fake Receipts

and Documents as evidence of his purchase of the real property.

573. The Defendant knew that DenSco would provide additional funding for future loans

so long as the Second Fraud was not discovered.

574. DenSco believed that DenSco’s funds were being used to purchase property,

especially given the detailed evidence provided by Defendant of such purchases.

575. DenSco believed that it held security positions on the new properties purchased under

loans given during the Second Fraud.

576. Given the new security measures that DenSco put it place, he relied on the validity of

the Fake Receipt and Documents, and had a right to rely on such.

577. Plaintiff discovered that the Second Fraud involved 2,616 loans by DenSco wherein

there was no underlying security interest because Defendant had not purchased any property, and all
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the cashier’s check, receipts and Documents for those 2,616 loans were fake.

578. Densco suffered injury in the amount of $30,504,551.33.

579. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XVI - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(4))

580. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

581. The Defendant piled on more lies and fraud and insisted that he would repay all the

outstanding sums due from the First Fraud and Second Fraud with funds he hid with Auction.com

(previously and herein after “Third Fraud”).

582. During the conversation between the Defendant and Denny Chittick, principal of

DenSco, the Defendant reiterated numerous times that there was $31.8 Million Dollars held by

Auction.com that belonged to Defendant and that he would use those funds to repay DenSco for the

amounts due under the First Fraud and Forbearance Agreement, and as a result of the Second Fraud.

583. Defendant represented that the outstanding sum due to DenSco would be paid to

DenSco after the bankruptcy case was over.   See Exhibit G- Excerpt from Scott Menaged’s 2004

Examination, page 202, lines 13-22, page 204, lines 8-21 (Q= Receiver’s counsel, A= Defendant).

584. During his deposition, the Defendant testified that that no money was held at

Auction.com for his use or benefit, or for the benefit of Densco.

585. Obviously the representation that there is $31.8 Million Dollars available to repay an

outrageous outstanding debt is a material fact.

586. The Defendant’s statements caused the Third Fraud against DenSco.

587. The Defendant testified in his deposition that he lied to Denny Chittick about the

existence of the funds with Auction.com.

588. During the entire recorded conversation between Defendant and Denny Chittick, the

Defendant repeatedly told Denny Chittick that the funds held in Auction.com would pay the

outstanding debt after the bankruptcy case, and Denny Chittick pushed for a time when the funds
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would be available.

589. The Defendant answered Denny Chittick’s questions about the repayment and time

frame with additional lies, including convincing Denny Chittick that Defendant would go to prison if

the Auction.com funds were discovered so Denny Chittick had to keep quiet about Auction.com.

590. In fact, during that conversation, the Defendant said that he would deny the existence

of the Auction.com funds.

591. Denny Chittick believed that the Defendant had millions sitting with Auction.com.

592. Denny Chittick believed everything that the Defendant told him, especially when

Defendant constantly told Denny Chittick that Defendant could go to prison if the Auction.com

funds were discovered.

593. Denny Chittick believed the Defendant would repay DenSco.

594. DenSco had received repayment on the First Fraud and Forbearance Agreement, so

his reliance that the Defendant had funds held in Auction.com and that Defendant would use those

funds to repay DenSco was reasonable.

595. Defendant’s lies about the Auction.com caused harm to DenSco.

596. Third Fraud caused harm to DenSco.

597. The Defendants’ actions require that the Defendants’ full debt to Receiver be found

nondischargeable pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(4).

COUNT XVII - NONDISCHARGEABILITY OF DEBT (SECTION 523(a)(6))

598. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

599. A debt is nondischargeable under Section 523(a)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code, for

willful and malicious injury by the debtor to another entity or to the property of another.

600. The Defendant’s conduct with respect to DenSco, as set forth herein, was willful and

malicious.

601. The Defendant’s willful and malicious conduct caused DenSco to suffer substantial

damage.
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602. DenSco  is  entitled  to  compensatory  and  punitive  damages  in  an  amount  of  at  least

$47,156,641.92, plus interest to the fullest extent permitted by law, and reasonable attorneys’ fees

and costs.

603. DenSco is entitled to damages for injuries that the Defendant caused through his

willful and malicious conduct.

604. Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 523(a)(6), the Defendants are not entitled to a discharge as to

debts and liabilities owed to DenSco.

COUNT XVIII - CONVERSION

605. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

606. The Defendant intentionally embezzled, took, seized, and converted DenSco’s funds

for his own personal benefit.

607. The funds that the Defendant took belonged to DenSco, and in equity and good

conscience should be paid and returned to DenSco.

608. The funds can be specifically identified and traced through DenSco and the

Defendant’s bank records and other documents.

609. The Defendant intentionally and wrongfully exercised dominion and control over

DenSco’s funds in defiance of DenSco’s wishes and rights therein.

610. The Defendant had no valid claim or right to the funds that he embezzled, diverted,

and took from DenSco.

611. The Defendant refused to return or repay the money that he embezzled, diverted, and

took despite DenSco’s demands and Denny Chittick’s pleas.

612. The Defendant’s conversion of funds it received from DenSco actually and

proximately caused DenSco to suffer substantial monetary harm in an amount to be proven at trial.

613. The Defendant’s conduct and conversion was intentional, willful, wanton, and

malicious, and done with an evil mind and conscious disregard of the substantial risk of harm to

DenSco.
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614. DenSco is entitled to compensatory and punitive damages in an amount to be proven

at trial, plus interest to the fullest extent permitted by law, and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

615. The Defendants are not entitled to a discharge as to full debts and liabilities owed to

DenSco.

COUNT XIX- BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES

616. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

617. In his business dealings and relationship with Denny Chittick, Defendant owed

special, fiduciary duties, including but not limited to a duty to deal honestly and in the utmost good

faith, a duty of loyalty, a duty to act with scrupulous care and diligence, and a duty to fully disclose

all material facts within his knowledge relating to DenSco.

618. Upon information and belief, Defendant used DenSco’s money to pay for obligations

unrelated to the business operations of DenSco.

619. Upon information and belief, Defendant diverted money belonging to DenSco for his

own personal uses.

620. Defendant embezzled DenSco’s money; misappropriated DenSco’s assets;

misrepresented the security interests and financial status; intentionally concealed and made

misrepresentations regarding the foregoing; and otherwise failed to fulfill the fiduciary duties that

he owed.

621. Defendant  failed  to  act  with  care,  honesty,  and  diligence  as  a  fiduciary  by,  among

other things, misappropriating and diverting DenSco’s money.

622. Defendant breached his fiduciary duties to DenSco, which directly and proximately

caused substantial monetary harm.

623. Defendant’s conduct and breaches of fiduciary duties were intentional, willful,

wanton, oppressive, fraudulent, and malicious, and done with an evil mind and conscious disregard

of the substantial risk of harm to DenSco.

624. DenSco is entitled to compensatory and punitive damages in an amount to be proven
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at trial, plus interest to the fullest extent permitted by law, and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

625. The Defendants are not entitled to a discharge as to full debts and liabilities owed to

DenSco.

COUNT XX- UNJUST ENRICHMENT

626. Plaintiff incorporates by reference all of the allegations contained in the preceding

paragraphs as more fully set forth herein.

627. Defendant by and through his conduct as set forth herein, improperly, wrongfully,

and unjustly embezzled and/or received property and money belonging to DenSco.

628. Defendant paid no compensation and provided no consideration for the money,

property, and benefits that he obtained at DenSco’s expense.

629. Defendant cannot in good conscience and equity retain the property, money, and

benefits without compensating DenSco, which would be an unjust result.

630. Defendant has been unjustly enriched at DenSco’s expense.

631. DenSco has been impoverished by Defendant’s unjust enrichment.

632. Defendant’s unjust enrichment actually and proximately caused DenSco to suffer

substantial monetary harm in an amount of at least $734,484,440.67.

633. There is no legal justification for Defendant’s unjust enrichment, and DenSco may

have no plain, speedy, or adequate way to remedy the embezzlement of its money.

634. DenSco is entitled to compensatory damages in an amount to be proven at trial, plus

interest to the fullest extent permitted by law, and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs.

635. The Defendants are not entitled to a discharge as to full debts and liabilities owed to

DenSco.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that the Court enter judgment in its favor and against

Defendant as follows:

A. For a determination that the amount of at least $47,156,641.92 constitutes

nondischargeable obligations under at least 11 U.S.C. § 523(a), including but

not limited to subsections (2), (4), and/or (6), in this Bankruptcy Case and
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any subsequent bankruptcy case;

B. For a determination that the full, outstanding debt of $47,156,641.92

constitutes nondischargeable obligations;

C. For an award of actual, consequential, punitive, and all other available

damages in an amount to be proven at trial;

D. For pre- and post-judgment interest to the fullest extent and at the highest rate

permitted by law;

E. For  an  award  of  attorneys’  fees,  taxable  costs,  and  all  other  costs  under  all

applicable law, plus interest as provided by law, including A.R.S. § 12-

341.01; and

F. For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

DATED this 31st day of January, 2017.

GUTTILLA MURPHY ANDERSON, P.C.

/s/ Ryan W. Anderson
Ryan W. Anderson
Attorneys for Receiver
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DECLARATION OF JILL H. FORD 

I, Jill H. Ford, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, declare as follows: 

1. I am a resident of Maricopa County, Arizona and am over the age of eighteen (18).  

2. I make this declaration from personal knowledge.   

3. I have served as the Chapter 7 Trustee in the bankruptcy case of Yomtov Scott 

Menaged in United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Arizona, case number 2:16-bk-

04268-PS, since Mr. Menaged filed his case on April 20, 2016.   

4. Among the assets that I collected from Mr. Menaged for liquidation in the 

bankruptcy case were a number of items of jewelry, including watches, bracelets, pendants, and 

chains.  With regard to those items, Mr. Menaged and his bankruptcy attorney Cody Jess requested 

that I conduct public sales at the bankruptcy courthouse to allow Mr. Menaged an opportunity to 

bid on the particular items he wanted because they had sentimental value to him.  I accommodated 

that request and arranged for public sales at the bankruptcy courthouse rather than engage the 

services of an auctioneer to conduct an online sale or rather than sell the items in lots.     

5. I conducted public sales in November 2016 and January 2017.  Mr. Menaged 

appeared and was the successful bidder on approximately 27 items and became obligated to pay a 

total of $7,500 to the Chapter 7 bankruptcy estate in exchange for those items.   

6. Ordinarily, the successful bidder has five business days to pay the sale price.  

Despite repeated telephone calls and emails from my office and my attorney's office to Mr. 

Menaged’s bankruptcy attorney demanding payment, Mr. Menaged did not pay.  Eventually, on 

about March 15, 2017, Mr. Menaged’s bankruptcy attorney informed me that Mr. Menaged would 

not pay the sale price after all, thus forcing me to incur the fees and expenses associated with 
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engaging the services of a professional auctioneer to sell those items for the benefit of the 

bankruptcy estate.   

7. In or about August 2016, Mr. Menaged informed me that his 2015 tax return was 

incorrect and would be amended to accurately reflect, among other things, gambling 

winnings/losses and business income.  My attorney has tried for several months to obtain Mr. 

Menaged's amended tax return from Mr. Menaged's bankruptcy attorney Mr. Jess.   As of the date 

of this declaration, Mr. Menaged has not provided to me or my attorney an amended 2015 tax 

return as he had originally promised.  

 I HEREBY DECLARE under penalty of perjury that the foregoing declaration is true and 

correct.   

 RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 28th day of June, 2017. 

       s/ Jill H. Ford  _____________ 
       JILL H. FORD, Trustee 
      

 

Case 2:17-cr-00680-GMS   Document 61-5   Filed 06/30/17   Page 3 of 3


	61-main
	61-1
	Exhibit A Cover Sheet
	Exh. A Declaration of SA Byron Anderton (to file)
	Exhibit 1 Cover Sheet
	Exh. 1 Furniture King Avondale PD
	Exhibit 2 Cover Sheet
	Exh. 2 Charles Begay EMPLOYEE FILE

	61-2
	Exhibit B Cover Sheet
	Exh. B Menaged Doc #29 Chapter 7 Trustee Motion to Reopen
	Yomtov Scott Menaged
	10510 East Sunnyside Drive
	Scottsdale, AZ  85259
	Debtor
	Larry Watson
	Office of the U.S. Trustee
	230 North First Avenue, Suite 204
	Phoenix, AZ  85003-1706
	By:U   /s/ Karen Flaaen  U


	61-3
	Exhibit C Cover Sheet
	Exh. C Menaged Adv Doc #2 Complaint

	61-4
	Exhibit D Cover Sheet
	Exh. D Menaged Densco 523 Complaint

	61-5
	Exhibit E Cover Sheet
	Exh. E Declaration of Jill H. Ford




